Weak variations of Lipschitz graphs and stability of phase boundaries

Yury Grabovsky Vladislav A. Kucher Lev Truskinovsky

Cont. Mech. Thermodyn., Vol. 23, no. 2 (2011) pp. 87–123

Abstract

In the case of Lipschitz extremals of vectorial variational problems an important class of strong variations originates from smooth deformations of the corresponding non-smooth graphs. These seemingly singular variations, which can be viewed as combinations of weak inner and outer variations, produce directions of differentiability of the functional and lead to singularity-centered necessary conditions on strong local minima: an equality, arising from stationarity, and an inequality, implying configurational stability of the singularity set. To illustrate the underlying coupling between inner and outer variations we study in detail the case of smooth surfaces of gradient discontinuity representing, for instance, martensitic phase boundaries in nonlinear elasticity.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Preliminaries	3
3	General first and second variations	7
	3.1 Outer and inner variation operators	8
	3.2 Mixed inner-outer variations	10
4	Smooth extremals	11
	4.1 EL equivalence as a variational symmetry	12
	4.2 First variation for smooth extremals	15
	4.3 Second variation for smooth extremals	16
5	Extremals with jump discontinuities	19
	5.1 First variation via partial EL equivalence	20
	5.2 First variation via full EL equivalence	21
	5.3 Second variation via partial EL equivalence	23
	5.4 Second variation via full EL equivalence	27

6	Global necessary conditions	28
	6.1 General conditions	28
	6.2 Example	30
7	Local necessary conditions	33
	7.1 General conditions	33
	7.2 Localization of the second variation	34
	7.3 Auxiliary variational problem	36
	7.4 Algebraic form	39
	7.5 Example	40
\mathbf{A}	Grinfeld's expression for second variation	43

1 Introduction

Equilibria in continuum mechanics are usually identified with strong local minima of integral functionals. Classical Calculus of Variations supplies the well known necessary conditions of strong local minimum [19] that are basically sufficient in the case of smooth extremals [24, 25]. The smoothness of extremals, however, is not certain when the Lagrangian is smooth. Even if conditions of convexity and coercivity are added, the Lipschitz continuity of extremals cannot be guaranteed [54, 59]. In elasticity theory convexity is excluded by frame indifference, and it is not uncommon to encounter non rank one convex functionals, as in the case of martensitic materials or in shape optimization problems. Smooth extremals in such theories are exceptions and the systematic treatment of singularities becomes essential. The most well-known examples of singular minimizers are elastic equilibria where coexisting phases are separated by phase boundaries (e.g. [47, 6]). For the general discussion of singular extremals in the Calculus of Variations we refer to [60, 9, 19], the Continuum Mechanics perspective can be found in [41, 50, 31, 4, 5].

The C^0 topology in the notion of strong minimization is compatible with variations of the singularity sets. It is therefore necessary to look for additional, singularity centered, necessary conditions of equilibrium and stability. In connection with this we can mention partial regularity results for global and strong local minima [14, 36] for uniformly quasiconvex energies. For Lipschitz extremals of general energies there exist strong variations of special type, corresponding to weak variations of their graphs. In this paper we show that such seemingly singular variations produce directions of differentiability of the functional along which both the first and the second variations can be computed. The resulting necessary conditions can be used to test the configurational stability of the singularity set.

An important example of Lipschitz singularities is a smooth surface of jump discontinuity of the gradient $\nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$. Such singularities are encountered in a variety of applications. For instance, the optimal Vigdergauz microstructures [56, 57, 58] emerge as minimizers in the theory of shape optimization [22, 20]. Two phase precipitates in metallurgy and material science represent stable inclusion-type configurations [33, 16]. In addition, Lipschitz type "classical designs" and "finite scale microstructures" are typical features of the regularized theories.

Engineering studies of mechanical instabilities associated with smooth external and internal surfaces of discontinuity, initiated in [55, 7], were mostly focused on *weak* local minimizers and the corresponding mathematical results can be found in [53, 40, 49, 50, 42]. For *strong* local minimization, the study of first order stability conditions on jump discontinuities was initiated by Weierstrass (see [11, 18]). In the case of phase transitions between nonlinear elastic phases the first variation was studied by Eshelby [13] (see also [48, 27, 32]) while the second variation was first computed by Grinfeld [28] (see also [35, 3, 37, 17]).

In this paper we formulate the global necessary conditions of stability and re-examine Grinfeld's pioneering results from the general perspective of Calculus of Variations. In particular, we study in full detail the localized version of the stability conditions and derive explicit algebraic inequalities generalizing all previously known local conditions of morphological instability for smooth surfaces of gradient discontinuity (e.g. [28, 53, 37]). For simplicity we keep the outer domain fixed disabling the corresponding boundary surface instabilities.

The paper is organized as follows. We begin with an heuristic discussion of the main ideas of the paper in Section 2. In Section 3 we derive the explicit expressions for the first and second mixed inner-outer variations in a form applicable to *general* Lipschitz extremals. In Section 4 we prove that for smooth extremals the mixed inner-outer variations can always be reduced to outer variations. We then formulate the idea of Euler-Lagrange equivalence (EL equivalence) representing a weaker version of Noether's variational symmetry. The extremals with smooth surfaces of jump discontinuities are considered in Section 5 where we apply our general results to derive explicit expressions for the first and second variations. The global necessary conditions are formulated in Section 6 where we also discuss singularities of higher co-dimension. In an illustrative example we show that the global stability condition can detect instabilities which would be missed by the corresponding local conditions. The global conditions are localized and reduced to a set of algebraic inequalities in Section 7. To illustrate the local necessary conditions we provide another example where the singularity centered algebraic conditions detect an instability, that the classical second variation misses.

In this paper we use index-free notation, whenever possible. The subscripts like L_F denote the matrices of partial derivatives $\partial L/\partial F_{ij}$. We use the inner product notation $(\boldsymbol{a}, \boldsymbol{b})$ to denote the dot product of two vectors or a Frobenius inner product $\text{Tr}(\boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{B}^T)$ of two matrices. In most cases we are able to deal with multi-index arrays by using the convention that $(\nabla \boldsymbol{A})\boldsymbol{b}$ denotes (in Einstein's notation) $A_{ij\ldots k,\alpha}b^{\alpha}$.

2 Preliminaries

Let Ω be an open and bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^d with Lipschitz boundary. In this paper we study some of the conditions necessary for a Lipschitz function $\boldsymbol{y}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^m$ to be a local

minimizer of the integral functional

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{\Omega} L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \nabla \boldsymbol{y}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (2.1)$$

subject to specified boundary conditions. A fairly common type of boundary conditions imposes linear constraints on the boundary values of y(x). In other words, we assume that

$$\boldsymbol{y} \in \overline{\boldsymbol{y}} + \operatorname{Var},$$
 (2.2)

where $\overline{\boldsymbol{y}}$ is a given Lipschitz function and Var is a subspace of $W^{1,\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m)$, containing $W_0^{1,\infty}(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^m)$. Therefore, the subspace Var is described in terms of linear constraints on the boundary values only. We assume that the Lagrangian $L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F})$ is jointly continuous in its variables and of class C^2 on an open neighborhood \mathcal{U} of the set¹ $\mathcal{R} = \{(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})) : \boldsymbol{x} \in \overline{\Omega}\}.$

Let us recall the classical notions of weak and strong local minima.

Definition 2.1. We call $\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x})$ a strong local minimizer if $I(\mathbf{y} + \boldsymbol{\phi}_n) \geq I(\mathbf{y})$ for all *n* large enough and for all sequences $\{\boldsymbol{\phi}_n\} \subset \text{Var}$ such that $\boldsymbol{\phi}_n \to \mathbf{0}$ uniformly as $n \to \infty$. We call $\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x})$ a weak local minimizer if $I(\mathbf{y} + \boldsymbol{\phi}_n) \geq I(\mathbf{y})$ for all *n* large enough and for all sequences $\{\boldsymbol{\phi}_n\} \subset \text{Var}$ such that $\boldsymbol{\phi}_n \to \mathbf{0}$ in the $W^{1,\infty}$ norm.

We observe that strong local minimizers are stable with respect to strong and weak variations, while weak local minimizers are stable with respect to only weak variations.

Definition 2.2. We call a sequence $\{\phi_n\} \subset \text{Var } a \text{ strong variation if } \phi_n \to \mathbf{0} \text{ uniformly as } n \to \infty$, while $\nabla \phi_n$ does not converge to zero uniformly. A weak variation is a sequences $\{\phi_n\} \subset \text{Var such that } \phi_n \to \mathbf{0} \text{ in the } W^{1,\infty} \text{ norm.}$

A typical strong variation is the generalized Weierstrass needle

$$\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) \mapsto \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\zeta}((\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_0)/\epsilon), \qquad \boldsymbol{\zeta} \in C_0^1(B(\boldsymbol{0}, 1); \mathbb{R}^m).$$
 (2.3)

In classical elasticity theory the variations (2.3) are often associated with nucleation phenomena (e.g. [2]).

A typical weak variation is the outer variation of the form

$$\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) \mapsto \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x}), \qquad \boldsymbol{\phi} \in \text{Var.}$$
 (2.4)

The most important difference between the weak and the strong variations is that the functional $I(\boldsymbol{y})$ is differentiable on weak variations and non-differentiable on strong ones. Indeed, in the case of weak variations the directional derivative

$$D_{\phi}I = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{I(\boldsymbol{y} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x})) - I(\boldsymbol{y})}{\epsilon}$$

¹The set \mathcal{R} is compact, when $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is of class C^1 . In the general case we mean the closure of the set of Lebesgue points of the measurable set \mathcal{R} .



Figure 1: (a,b) Classical Weierstrass needle variation (nucleation) leading to necessary conditions in the form of inequalities. (c,d) Weak variation of a Lipschitz graph representing configurational shift in the location of a defect and leading to necessary conditions in the form of both equalities and inequalities.

is linear in ϕ . At the same time the appropriate "directional derivative" for the case of strong variations,

$$D_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}I = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{I(\boldsymbol{y} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\zeta}((\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_0)/\epsilon)) - I(\boldsymbol{y})}{\epsilon^d}$$

is non-linear in $\boldsymbol{\zeta}$. Therefore, the associated local minimization conditions are of two different types: equalities and inequalities, repsectively.

Below, to illustrate the difference between these two types of variations we first obtain the conditions of vanishing of the first derivative $D_{\phi}I$ and non-negativity of the second derivative $D_{\phi\phi}I$ in the differentiable directions $\phi(\boldsymbol{x})$. Then, we obtain the quasiconvexity inequality $D_{\boldsymbol{\zeta}}I \geq 0$ along the non-differentiable "directions" $\boldsymbol{\zeta}((\boldsymbol{x}-\boldsymbol{x}_0)/\epsilon)$ (see Figure 1(b)).

When $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is a C^1 extremal, the two types of variations are independent [24, 25], while for Lipschitz local minimizers, the situation is more complex. The weak variations of the graph of $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is a strong variation $\{\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}\}$, for which the functional increment $I(\boldsymbol{y}+\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon})-I(\boldsymbol{y})$ exhibits the differentiability properties characteristic of weak variations (see Figure 1(d)). The existence of such strong variations suggests that in the Lipschitz case the partition of variations into the weak and the strong is no longer appropriate and that some strong variations can also generate necessary conditions in the form of equalities.

The weak variations of Lipschitz graphs are defined as follows. The graph of y(x) is the

set $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}} = \{(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})) : \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega\} \subset \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^m$. The weak variation of the graph is the "perturbed graph"

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}} = \{ (\boldsymbol{x} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x})) : \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \},$$
(2.5)

where $\boldsymbol{\phi} \in \operatorname{Var} \cap C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ and $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap C_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$. Obviously, $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}}$ is the graph of

$$\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})), \quad \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega,$$
(2.6)

where $\vartheta_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is the inverse map of $\boldsymbol{x} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x})$. Hence, weak variations of Lipschitz graphs can be represented as a combination of inner and outer variations, where the inner variation is defined by

$$\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) \mapsto \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})).$$
 (2.7)

More general classes of variations were considered in [15].

A weak variation of the graph, illustrated schematically in Figure 1(c) shows that the total outer variation (the Eulerian image of the combined inner-outer variation)

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})) - \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}).$$
(2.8)

is indistinguishable from the Weierstrass needle shown in the inset of Figure 1(a). More precisely, $\nabla \phi_{\epsilon}$ is small everywhere, except on the set of small measure localized near the defects of $\nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$. In classical elasticity theory such variations are often identified with configurational displacements of crystal defects (propagation).

We now turn to the question of stability of the functional (2.1) with respect to weak variations of the graph of the Lipschitz map $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$. The functional increment $I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) - I(\boldsymbol{y})$, corresponding to the weak variation of the graph is, at the first glance, not differentiable, confirming the strong variation picture. However, the change of variables $\boldsymbol{z} = \boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ gives

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) = \int_{\Omega} L\left(\boldsymbol{z} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{z}), \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{z}) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{z}), \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{z})(\boldsymbol{I} + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})^{-1} + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}\right) \det(\boldsymbol{I} + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{z}, \quad (2.9)$$

where $F(\mathbf{x})$ is our notation for the gradient $\nabla \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x})$. It is now obvious that $I(\mathbf{y}_{\epsilon})$ depends in a smooth way on $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ and $\boldsymbol{\phi}$, even when $F(\mathbf{x})$ is merely measurable and bounded. Observe that the inner and outer variations play very different roles. The former affects Lagrangian variables \mathbf{x} and moves singularities, while the latter perturbs the Eulerian variables \mathbf{y} and preserves the locations of singularities. One can see that in the Lipschitz case neither the first variation nor the the second can be fully understood in terms of the inner or outer variations alone.

If $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is of class C^1 then there are no singularities to move and (2.6) is equivalent to the pure outer variation (2.4). Indeed, using the Taylor expansion

$$\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{x} - \epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}) + o(\epsilon),$$

we obtain,

$$oldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}(oldsymbol{x}) = oldsymbol{y}(oldsymbol{x}) - \epsilon oldsymbol{F}(oldsymbol{x}) oldsymbol{ heta}(oldsymbol{x}) + \epsilon oldsymbol{\phi}(oldsymbol{x}) + o(\epsilon).$$

Hence,

$$\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}) + o(\epsilon), \qquad (2.10)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is given by

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x}) - \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}). \tag{2.11}$$

This shows that when $\boldsymbol{y} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ the inner-outer variation (2.6) is equivalent to the outer variation (2.4), with $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ replaced by $\boldsymbol{\psi}$, given by (2.11). This leads us to the notion of the EL (Euler-Lagrange) equivalence, discussed in detail in Section 4.1, which can also be regarded as a variational symmetry.

Remark 2.3. There is an important difference between the inner and outer variations. The inner variations can only produce outer variations of the form

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x}) = -\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x})\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}) \tag{2.12}$$

If $F(\mathbf{x}) = \nabla \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x})$ is a rectangular matrix, or a singular square matrix, then the equation (2.12) may not be solvable for $\boldsymbol{\theta}$. In addition, in our setting, the outer variations that are equivalent to the inner ones must necessarily vanish on $\partial\Omega$.

When singularities of the gradient F(x) are present the symmetry is broken, since in the space of labels (Lagrangian coordinates) the points on the singular set are distinguished from all the other points. Nevertheless, we may extend the idea of EL equivalence, to the case when F(x) is not smooth, if we study the equivalent outer variation (2.8) corresponding to the inner-outer variation (2.6). The known structure of singularities of F(x) can then be translated into the understanding of the geometry of the set, where $|\nabla \phi_{\epsilon}|$ is not small.

Our most detailed results are obtained for smooth surfaces of gradient jump discontinuity, representing, for instance, elastic phase boundaries, where the structure of the singularity is the simplest. We also show that the defects of co-dimension higher than 1 are "invisible" to our functional. The physical defects with higher co-dimension, describing for instance dislocations, crack tips and vacancies, correspond to non-Lipschitz maps which are in principle amenable to our general approach while requiring a special treatment of unbounded deformation gradients.

3 General first and second variations

The inner-outer first and second variations are defined as the derivatives

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \left. \frac{dI(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon})}{d\epsilon} \right|_{\epsilon=0}, \qquad \delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \left. \frac{d^2I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon})}{d\epsilon^2} \right|_{\epsilon=0}$$

that can be computed in a straightforward way by differentiating under the integral in (2.9). Attempting to perform the calculations, one quickly discovers that the direct way is very tedious, at least as far as the second variation is concerned. The formalism presented below brings a transparent structure to the results and allows one to accelerate the computations considerably.

3.1 Outer and inner variation operators

We define the global outer variation operator by

$$\mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = I(\boldsymbol{y} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}) \tag{3.1}$$

We also define the corresponding infinitesimal outer variation operators

$$(\delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]L)(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}) = (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}), \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x})) + (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x}))$$

and

$$\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{\Omega} (\delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]L)(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}))d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where

$$oldsymbol{P} = L_{oldsymbol{F}}(oldsymbol{x},oldsymbol{y},oldsymbol{F})$$

is known in the context of elasticity theory as the Piola-Kirchhoff stress tensor.

We can expand the global outer variation operator $\mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \phi]$ in powers of ϵ , even when $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is merely Lipschitz continuous.

LEMMA 3.1. Suppose $\phi \in W^{1,\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m)$. Then

$$\mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \frac{\epsilon^2}{2}\Delta_o^2[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) + o(\epsilon^2),$$

where

$$\Delta_o^2[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}](\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y})).$$

Proof. One way to prove the lemma is to perform the explicit differentiation in (2.9) and compare the result with the expansion in the lemma. There is, however, a more enlightening proof. Let $f(\epsilon) = \mathfrak{D}[\epsilon \phi]I(\boldsymbol{y})$. Our goal is to derive the formula for f''(0) in the Taylor expansion

$$f(\epsilon) = f(0) + \epsilon f'(0) + \frac{\epsilon^2}{2} f''(0) + o(\epsilon^2)$$

without having to differentiate (2.9) twice. The idea is is to compute the *first order* expansion

$$T(\epsilon, \delta) = f(\epsilon) + \delta f'(\epsilon)$$

of $f(\epsilon + \delta)$, regarding ϵ as fixed. If we then expand $T(\epsilon, \delta)$ to first order in ϵ , then we obtain

$$f(\epsilon + \delta) \sim f(0) + (\epsilon + \delta)f'(0) + \epsilon \delta f''(0).$$
(3.3)

Hence, f''(0) can be computed as the coefficient of $\epsilon \delta$ in (3.3). To prove the lemma, it remains to observe that

$$f(\epsilon + \delta) = \mathfrak{O}[\delta \phi](\mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \phi]I(\boldsymbol{y})).$$

Therefore,

$$T(\epsilon, \delta) = \mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}] I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \delta \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}] (\mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}] I(\boldsymbol{y})).$$

Expanding $T(\epsilon, \delta)$ to first order in ϵ we obtain $f''(0) = \Delta_o^2[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y})$.

Performing explicit calculations, we also obtain

$$\delta_o^2[\boldsymbol{\phi}]L = (L_{\boldsymbol{y}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\phi}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}\nabla\boldsymbol{\phi},\nabla\boldsymbol{\phi}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi},\nabla\boldsymbol{\phi}).$$
(3.4)

We define the global inner variation operator by

$$\mathfrak{I}[\epsilon\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon})). \tag{3.5}$$

We also define the corresponding infinitesimal inner variation operators

$$(\delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]L)(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}) = (L_{\boldsymbol{x}}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}), \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x})) + (\boldsymbol{P}^*(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}), \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}))$$

and

$$\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{\Omega} (\delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]L)(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla \boldsymbol{y}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{P}^* = L\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{F}^T \boldsymbol{L}_{\boldsymbol{F}} \tag{3.7}$$

is the energy-momentum tensor known in elasticity theory as the Eshelby tensor. We remark, that even though $\nabla(\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}))$ is not uniformly close to $\nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$, the formula $\nabla(\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon})) = \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon})\nabla\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}$ shows that $(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}), \nabla(\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}))$ stays in the set \mathcal{U} (the set where the Lagrangian L is C^2) for almost all $\boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega$, since $\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ and $\nabla \boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}$ are uniformly close to \boldsymbol{x} and \boldsymbol{I} , respectively. Hence, there is no problem expanding $\mathfrak{I}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y})$ in powers of ϵ even when $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is merely Lipschitz continuous.

LEMMA **3.2.** Suppose $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d)$

$$\Im[\epsilon\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \frac{\epsilon^2}{2}(\Delta_i^2[\boldsymbol{\theta}] - \Delta_i[(\nabla\boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta}])I(\boldsymbol{y}) + o(\epsilon^2),$$

where

$$\Delta_i^2[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}](\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y})).$$

Proof. We follow the same strategy as in the proof of Lemma 3.1. Let $f(\epsilon) = \Im[\epsilon \theta]I(\boldsymbol{y})$. First we expand

$$\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon+\delta}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) - \delta(\boldsymbol{I} + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})))^{-1} \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})) + O(\delta^2).$$

Therefore, comparing the first order expansions in δ we conclude that

$$f(\epsilon + \delta) = \Im[\delta \boldsymbol{\eta}_{\epsilon}](\Im[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y})) + O(\delta^{2}),$$

where $\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}))$. Hence,

$$T(\epsilon, \delta) = \Im[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}] I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \delta \Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\epsilon}] (\Im[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}] I(\boldsymbol{y})).$$

Expanding $T(\epsilon, \delta)$ to first order in ϵ , using

$$\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}) - \epsilon(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}))\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}) + O(\epsilon^2)$$

we obtain the lemma.

Performing explicit calculations, we also obtain

$$\delta_i^2[\boldsymbol{\theta}]L = L((\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta})^2 - \operatorname{Tr}(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})^2) + (\boldsymbol{P}^*, \nabla((\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta})) + (L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, (\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta})\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + 2(\boldsymbol{P}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta} - (\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{I})) + (L_{\boldsymbol{FF}}\boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) - 2(L_{\boldsymbol{Fx}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{xx}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}). \quad (3.8)$$

3.2 Mixed inner-outer variations

With the new notation, introduced in Section 3.1, we can write the action of the inner-outer variation (2.6) on $I(\boldsymbol{y})$ as

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}) + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon})) = \mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}](\mathfrak{I}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y})).$$
(3.9)

From this we easily obtain the expression for the first and second variations, corresponding to (2.6).

THEOREM 3.3.

(a) For any $\boldsymbol{\phi} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ and $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d)$

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon \delta I(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + \frac{\epsilon^2}{2} \delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + o(\epsilon^2), \qquad (3.10)$$

where

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = (\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}] + \Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}])I(\boldsymbol{y})$$
(3.11)

and

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = (\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}] + \Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}])^2 I(\boldsymbol{y}) - \delta I_{\Omega}((\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi})\boldsymbol{\theta}, (\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta})$$
(3.12)

(b) If $\phi \in \operatorname{Var} \cap C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^m)$, $\theta \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap C_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\delta I_{\Omega}(\phi, \theta) = 0$ for all $\phi \in \operatorname{Var}$ and all $\theta \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap C_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$, then

$$\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}), \qquad (3.13)$$

and

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = (\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}] + \Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}])^2 I(\boldsymbol{y}).$$
(3.14)

Proof. Expand (3.9) up to the second order in ϵ , using Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2.

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) = \mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}] \left\{ I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon \Delta_{i}[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{2} (\Delta_{i}^{2}[\boldsymbol{\theta}] - \Delta_{i}[(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta}])I(\boldsymbol{y}) \right\} + o(\epsilon^{2}).$$

Observe that the operator $\mathfrak{O}[\epsilon \phi]$ is linear. Therefore,

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon \Delta_{i}[\boldsymbol{\theta}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon \Delta_{o}[\boldsymbol{\phi}]I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{2} (\Delta_{i}^{2}[\boldsymbol{\theta}] - \Delta_{i}[(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta}] + 2\Delta_{o}[\boldsymbol{\phi}](\Delta_{i}[\boldsymbol{\theta}]) + \Delta_{o}^{2}[\boldsymbol{\phi}])I(\boldsymbol{y}) + o(\epsilon^{2}). \quad (3.15)$$

Formula (3.11) follows. To prove (3.13) we compute the commutator of $\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]$ and $\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]$ explicitly:

$$\delta_{o}[\boldsymbol{\phi}](\delta_{i}[\boldsymbol{\theta}]L) = (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}((\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{I} - \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})) - (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\phi})\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} - (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{x}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \quad (3.16)$$

and

$$\delta_{i}[\boldsymbol{\theta}](\delta_{o}[\boldsymbol{\phi}]L) = (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta})) - (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}) \\ + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \nabla \cdot (\boldsymbol{\phi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta})) - (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{F}\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{x}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}). \quad (3.17)$$

Here

$$(\nabla \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}))_{i\alpha} = (\phi_{i,\alpha} \theta_{\beta})_{,\beta}, \qquad (\nabla \cdot (\boldsymbol{\phi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}))_i = (\phi_i \theta_{\beta})_{,\beta}.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}]\Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}] - \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}]\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}] = \Delta_o[(\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi})\boldsymbol{\theta}].$$
(3.18)

Recalling that $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \mathbf{0}$ on $\partial\Omega$ we conclude that $(\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi})\boldsymbol{\theta} \in W_0^{1,\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^m) \subset \text{Var.}$ Hence (3.13) follows. Substituting (3.18) into (3.15) we obtain (3.12), since $(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})\boldsymbol{\theta} \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap C_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$. Finally, applying (3.13) to (3.15) we obtain (3.14).

In addition to the formula (3.12) for the second variation we will also need an explicit formula for $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$.

THEOREM 3.4.

$$\delta^{2} I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \int_{\Omega} \{ 2J_{2}(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) L + 2((L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\phi})) \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + (L_{\boldsymbol{x}\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{x}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{x}\boldsymbol{$$

where

$$oldsymbol{H} =
abla \phi - oldsymbol{F}
abla heta, \qquad J_2(oldsymbol{\xi}) = rac{1}{2} ((\operatorname{Tr} oldsymbol{\xi})^2 - \operatorname{Tr} (oldsymbol{\xi}^2)), \qquad oldsymbol{\Theta}(oldsymbol{\xi}) =
abla J_2(oldsymbol{\xi}) = (\operatorname{Tr} oldsymbol{\xi}) I - oldsymbol{\xi}^T.$$

Proof. The result follows if we substitute formulas (3.4), (3.8), (3.16) and (3.17) into (3.12).

4 Smooth extremals

At the first glance, mixed inner-outer variations (2.6) are considerably more general than the pure outer variations (2.4) and produce conditions $\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = 0$ and $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \geq 0$ that are stronger than the classical conditions $\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \mathbf{0}) = 0$ and $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \mathbf{0}) \geq 0$, that follow from stability with respect to the outer variations alone. However, when $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is of class C^1 the inner-outer variation (2.6) is equivalent to the pure outer variation (2.4). In other words, in the smooth case the weak variation of Lagrangian coordinates can always be represented as a weak variation of Eulerian coordinates. In what follows we shall refer to this situation as the Euler-Lagrange (EL) equivalence.

Remark 4.1. The EL equivalence principle for smooth fields can be also used on any subset of Ω , that is free from singularities, even if $F(\mathbf{x})$ has singularities elsewhere in Ω .

4.1 EL equivalence as a variational symmetry

Let us recall the notion of variational symmetry [45] (see also [46]). Consider a family of weak perturbations of the graph $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}}$:

$$\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}_{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}} = \{ (\boldsymbol{X}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \boldsymbol{\epsilon}), \boldsymbol{Y}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \boldsymbol{\epsilon})) : (\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) \in \Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}} \},$$
(4.1)

where the functions \boldsymbol{X} and \boldsymbol{Y} are smooth in all of their arguments and have the property $\boldsymbol{X}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; 0) = \boldsymbol{x}$ and $\boldsymbol{Y}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; 0) = \boldsymbol{y}$. When ϵ is small enough the set $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}_{\epsilon}}$ is still a graph of the function $\boldsymbol{Y}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{X}), \boldsymbol{X} \in \Omega_{\epsilon}$, where $\Omega_{\epsilon} = \boldsymbol{X}(\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}}; \epsilon)$.

Definition 4.2. The transformation

$$\boldsymbol{X} = \boldsymbol{X}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon), \qquad \boldsymbol{Y} = \boldsymbol{Y}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)$$

$$(4.2)$$

is called a variational symmetry at $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ if

$$\int_{\Omega_{\epsilon}} L(\boldsymbol{X}, \boldsymbol{Y}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{X}), \nabla_{\boldsymbol{X}} \boldsymbol{Y}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{X})) d\boldsymbol{X} = \int_{\Omega} L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})) d\boldsymbol{x}.$$
(4.3)

holds for all smooth subsets Ω of \mathbb{R}^d .

The existence of the variational symmetry is usually associated with some special properties of the Lagrangian. The Noether theorem [45] then states that there is a conservation law corresponding to each variational symmetry. In our case the Lagrangian has no assumed symmetries of this kind. The EL equivalence is a weaker *integral symmetry*, when the relation (4.3) holds only for the given domain Ω . To obtain the corresponding "conservation law", we differentiating (4.3) in ϵ at $\epsilon = 0$ to obtain

$$(\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\theta}] + \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{\phi}])I(\boldsymbol{y}) = 0 \tag{4.4}$$

at $\boldsymbol{y} = \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$, where

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{X}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon} \bigg|_{\epsilon=0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{Y}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon} \bigg|_{\epsilon=0}$$
(4.5)

can be regarded as the infinitesimal generators of the integral symmetry. We emphasize that $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is not assumed to be an extremal, and the implication $(4.3) \Rightarrow (4.4)$ holds for general Lipschitz maps $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$.

The EL equivalence principle, relating inner and outer variations for smooth maps $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ can be restated as a possibility of making non-trivial inner and outer variations (4.2) whose effects cancel out producing no net change in the graph of $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$. This can be written in the form of an integral symmetry at $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ with

$$\boldsymbol{X} = \boldsymbol{\Xi}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \boldsymbol{\epsilon}), \qquad \boldsymbol{Y} = \boldsymbol{y} + \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\Xi}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \boldsymbol{\epsilon})) - \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}), \tag{4.6}$$

where $\Xi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)$ is an arbitrary smooth family of diffeomorphisms of $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}}$ onto Ω . It is easy to verify that in this case the graph $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{Y}_{\epsilon}}$, given by (4.1) coincides with the graph $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}}$ of $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$. Hence, $\boldsymbol{Y}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{X}) = \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{X})$ and the equality (4.3) holds. If the map $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is Lipschitz, then no weak outer transformation $\boldsymbol{Y}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)$ in (4.1) can cancel out the effect of the weak inner transformation $\Xi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)$. In fact, the function $\boldsymbol{y}(\Xi(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon))$ will be non-differentiable in ϵ . It is in this sense that the smoothness of $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is required for the integral variational symmetry.

For smooth maps $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ the infinitesimal generators (4.5) corresponding to (4.6) are

$$\left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\Xi}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon} \right|_{\epsilon=0} = \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}), \qquad \left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{\Xi}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon))}{\partial \epsilon} \right|_{\epsilon=0} = \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x}) \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}).$$

The corresponding identity (4.4) then becomes

$$0 = (\Delta_i[\boldsymbol{\eta}] + \Delta_o[\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\eta}])I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{\Omega} (\mathcal{E}^*(L) + \boldsymbol{F}^T \mathcal{E}(L), \boldsymbol{\eta}) d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\partial\Omega} L(\boldsymbol{\eta}, \boldsymbol{n}) dS, \qquad (4.7)$$

where

$$\mathcal{E}(L) = L_{\boldsymbol{y}} - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}, \qquad \mathcal{E}^*(L) = L_{\boldsymbol{x}} - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}^*.$$
(4.8)

The infinitesimal generator $\boldsymbol{\eta}$ can be chosen arbitrarily in $C_0^1(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$, by taking $\boldsymbol{\Xi}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon) = \boldsymbol{x} + \epsilon \boldsymbol{\eta}(\boldsymbol{x})$. Then, the integral relation (4.7) can be rewritten pointwise, giving the Noether's identity

$$L_{\boldsymbol{x}} - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}^* = -\boldsymbol{F}^T (L_{\boldsymbol{y}} - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}).$$
(4.9)

The surface integral in (4.7) vanishes since $(\eta, n) = 0$, as a consequence of invariance of the domain Ω . Identity (4.9) implies that any C^2 extremal is stationary, i.e. $\mathcal{E}^*(L) = 0$. We can therefore interpret stationarity of smooth extremals as a manifestation of integral symmetry.

The "trivial" graph transformation (4.6) can also be combined with any other transformation (4.2) without changing its cumulative effect. This allows one to modify the generators $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ and $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ of the transformation (4.2) without changing what the transformation does to $\Gamma_{\boldsymbol{y}}$ in the first order of ϵ .

Our interest in second variation suggests that we should also consider the effect of the EL equivalence symmetry (4.6) on the second order generators

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}'(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{X}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y};\epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon^2} \bigg|_{\epsilon=0}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\phi}'(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y}) = \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{Y}(\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{y};\epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon^2} \bigg|_{\epsilon=0}.$$
(4.10)

The second order generators of the trivial transformation (4.6) are (η', ρ') , where

$$oldsymbol{
ho}' = (
abla oldsymbol{F}oldsymbol{\eta})oldsymbol{\eta} + oldsymbol{F}oldsymbol{\eta}'$$

If we compose an arbitrary smooth transformation (4.2) with the trivial transformation (4.6), we will obtain the new transformation

$$\boldsymbol{X} = \boldsymbol{Z}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon), \qquad \boldsymbol{Y} = \boldsymbol{W}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon),$$

that is equivalent to the original one. However, its first and second order infinitesimal generators will differ from (θ, ϕ) and (θ', ϕ') . We compute

$$\left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{Z}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon} \right|_{\epsilon=0} = \boldsymbol{\theta} + \boldsymbol{\eta}, \qquad \left. \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{W}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon} \right|_{\epsilon=0} = \boldsymbol{\phi} + \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\eta}$$

We conclude that the pairs of first order generators $(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\phi})$ and $(\boldsymbol{\theta} + \boldsymbol{\eta}, \boldsymbol{\phi} + \boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\eta})$ are equivalent. Computing the second order infinitesimal generators of the combined transformation, we get

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \left. \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{Z}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon^2} \right|_{\epsilon=0} = \boldsymbol{\theta}' + \boldsymbol{\eta}' + 2\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\theta} + 2\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \\ \left. \frac{\partial^2 \boldsymbol{W}(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}; \epsilon)}{\partial \epsilon^2} \right|_{\epsilon=0} = \boldsymbol{\phi}' + \boldsymbol{\rho}' + 2(\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\boldsymbol{x}} + \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{F})\boldsymbol{\eta} + 2\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{\eta}_{\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\theta} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\eta} + \boldsymbol{\eta}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\eta}).$$

We may use the freedom in the choice of generators η and η' in order to replace the original inner-outer variation with the pure outer variation (up to the second order in ϵ), if we choose

$$\eta = -\theta, \qquad \eta' = -\theta' + 2\theta_x \theta + 2\theta_y \phi.$$

Applying this principle to the variation (2.5) we obtain the equivalent outer variation

$$oldsymbol{y} \mapsto oldsymbol{y} + \epsilon oldsymbol{\psi} + rac{\epsilon^2}{2} oldsymbol{\psi}' + o(\epsilon^2)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ is given by (2.11) and

$$\psi' = 2F(\nabla\theta)\theta - 2(\nabla\phi)\theta + (\nabla F\theta)\theta = -2(\nabla\psi)\theta - (\nabla F\theta)\theta.$$
(4.11)

One consequence of these calculations is the possibility to simplify the general expansion (3.10):

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) = I(\boldsymbol{y}) + \epsilon \delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{0}) + \frac{\epsilon^2}{2} (\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\psi}', \boldsymbol{0}) + \delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{0})).$$
(4.12)

In particular, when the first variation vanishes, we obtain

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}). \tag{4.13}$$

In conclusion we mention that the considerations of this section were limited to the case when the domain Ω was fixed by the transformations (4.2). In order to make the principle of EL equivalence applicable to variable domains we need to move beyond the present restricted definition of variational symmetry.

4.2 First variation for smooth extremals

In this section we assume that $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is of class C^2 on a subdomain D of Ω and is an extremal, i.e. satisfies the Euler-Lagrange equation

$$L_{\boldsymbol{y}} - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P} = \boldsymbol{0}, \tag{4.14}$$

in the classical sense on D. The EL equivalence principle implies, via (4.9), that the stationarity condition

$$L_{\boldsymbol{x}} - \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}^* = \boldsymbol{0}, \tag{4.15}$$

also known as the Eshelby equation in elasticity theory is satisfied, when $x \in D$. Then the first variation on D can be expressed as a surface integral over ∂D .

THEOREM 4.3. Let $D \subset \Omega$ be a subdomain with Lipschitz boundary. Assume that $\mathbf{y} \in C^2(\overline{D}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ then

$$\delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + \mathfrak{S}_1, \tag{4.16}$$

where δI_D is the first variation (3.11), in which Ω is replaced with D, and

$$\mathfrak{S}_1 = \int_{\partial D} L(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) dS$$

In particular, when $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is an extremal on D

$$\delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \int_{\partial D} \{ (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) + L(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \} dS.$$

Proof. Substituting

$$abla \phi =
abla \psi +
abla oldsymbol{F} oldsymbol{ heta} + oldsymbol{F}
abla oldsymbol{ heta}$$

into (3.11) we obtain

$$\delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \int_D \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) + (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}) + L \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + (L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (\boldsymbol{P}, \boldsymbol{F} \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) \} d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

Therefore,

$$\delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi},\mathbf{0}) + \int_D \{L\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + (\nabla L,\boldsymbol{\theta})\} d\boldsymbol{x} = \delta I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi},\mathbf{0}) + \int_D \nabla \cdot (L\boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

The result follows from the divergence theorem.

Theorem 4.3 will be used in Section 5.1, where we derive the expression for the first variation $\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$ for extremals with jump discontinuities.

4.3 Second variation for smooth extremals

The goal of this section is to prove the analog of Theorem 4.3 and formula (4.16) for second variation. The analysis here applies not only to the case when the extremal is smooth, but also to the case when it is piecewise smooth.

THEOREM 4.4. Let $D \subset \Omega$ be a subdomain with Lipschitz boundary. Assume $\boldsymbol{y} \in C^3(\overline{D}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ is an extremal. Then

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + \mathfrak{S}_2, \qquad (4.17)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{S}_{2} = \int_{\partial D} \{ ((\boldsymbol{P}^{*})^{T} \nabla_{\partial D} \boldsymbol{\theta} + \boldsymbol{P}^{T} \nabla_{\partial D} (2\boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}), (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}) + ((L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, 2\boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta})) (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \} dS.$$

In particular, $\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0})$, when $\boldsymbol{\theta} = \mathbf{0}$ on ∂D . Here $\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is given by (2.11) and

$$\nabla_{\partial D} \boldsymbol{f} = \nabla \boldsymbol{f} - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{f}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \otimes \boldsymbol{n} = \nabla \boldsymbol{f} (\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{n})$$
(4.18)

is the surface gradient.

Proof. We begin by expressing \boldsymbol{H} in (3.19) in terms of $\boldsymbol{\psi}$: $\boldsymbol{H} = \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} + \nabla \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}$. We then apply the chain rule identities

$$L_{FF}(\nabla F \theta) = \nabla P \theta - L_{Fx} \theta - L_{Fy}(F \theta)$$
$$L_{yF}(\nabla F \theta) = \nabla L_{y} \theta - L_{yx} \theta - L_{yy} F \theta$$
$$(L_{xF}(\nabla F \theta), \theta) = (\nabla L_{x} \theta, \theta) - (L_{xx} \theta, \theta) - (L_{xy} F \theta, \theta).$$

We obtain

$$\begin{split} \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) &= \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{0}) + \int_D \{ 2J_2(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) L + 2((L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta})) \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + 2(\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\Theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} + \nabla \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \\ &+ 2(\nabla \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}) + (\nabla \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) + 2(\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) + (\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \} d\boldsymbol{x}. \end{split}$$

We now show that the volume integral on the right-hand side above is equal to the surface integral in (4.17). To organize the calculations we split the integral above into 6 groups of terms and proceed to simplify and combine these groups until our goal is reached. We write

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + \sum_{j=1}^6 T_j.$$
$$T_1 = \int_D \{ 2(\nabla \boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}) + (\nabla \boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \nabla \boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\theta}) + (\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\theta}) \} d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$T_{2} = 2 \int_{D} \{ ((L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\theta})) \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{\Theta}(\nabla\boldsymbol{\theta}), \nabla\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{\theta}) \} d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$T_{3} = 2 \int_{D} (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{\Theta}(\nabla\boldsymbol{\theta}), \nabla\boldsymbol{\psi}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad T_{4} = 2 \int_{D} \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + (\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\psi}) \} d\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$T_{5} = 2 \int_{D} J_{2}(\nabla\boldsymbol{\theta}) L d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad T_{6} = \int_{D} (\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{x}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x}$$

Step 1. We integrate by parts in the first and second terms of T_1 , using (4.14) in the second term:

$$T_1 = Y_1 + X_1 + S_1 + S_2$$

where

$$Y_{1} = -2 \int_{D} (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \boldsymbol{\theta} + \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \quad X_{1} = -\int_{D} P_{i\alpha,\beta} F_{i\gamma}(\theta_{\beta} \theta_{\gamma})_{,\alpha} d\boldsymbol{x},$$
$$S_{1} = 2 \int_{\partial D} (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) dS, \qquad S_{2} = \int_{\partial D} ((\nabla \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) dS$$

Hence, we obtain

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + X_1 + Y_1 + S_1 + S_2 + T_2 + T_3 + T_4 + T_5 + T_6.$$

Step 2. $T_2 = X_2 + X_3$, where

$$X_2 = 2 \int_D (\nabla L, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad X_3 = -2 \int_D (\nabla F \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{P} (\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})^T) d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

We also observe that

$$X_1 + X_3 = X_4 = -\int_D (F_{i\gamma} P_{i\alpha})_{,\beta} (\theta_\beta \theta_\gamma)_{,\alpha} d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

Hence,

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + X_2 + X_4 + Y_1 + S_1 + S_2 + T_3 + T_4 + T_5 + T_6.$$

Step 3. We integrate by parts and use (4.14).

$$Y_1 + T_3 = -2 \int_D (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla(\nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \boldsymbol{\theta})) d\boldsymbol{x} = Y_2 + S_3,$$

where

$$Y_2 = 2 \int_D (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad S_3 = -2 \int_{\partial D} (\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \boldsymbol{\theta}) dS.$$

We also have

$$S_1 + S_3 = Z_1 = 2 \int_{\partial D} (\nabla_{\partial D} \boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{P}((\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta})) dS.$$

Hence,

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + X_2 + X_4 + Y_2 + Z_1 + S_2 + T_4 + T_5 + T_6.$$

Step 4.

$$Y_2 + T_4 = 2 \int_D \nabla \cdot ((L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\psi})\boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x} = S_4,$$

where

$$S_4 = 2 \int_{\partial D} (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\psi})(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) dS.$$

Hence,

$$\delta^2 I_D(\phi, \theta) = \delta^2 I_D(\psi, 0) + X_2 + X_4 + Z_1 + S_2 + S_4 + T_5 + T_6.$$

Step 5. We represent $J_2(\nabla \theta)$ as a divergence, $2J_2(\nabla \theta) = \nabla \cdot (\Theta^T(\nabla \theta)\theta)$, and integrate by parts

$$T_5 = S_5 + X_5,$$

where

$$X_5 = -\int_D (\nabla L, \boldsymbol{\Theta}^T (\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad S_5 = \int_{\partial D} (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\Theta} (\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{n}) L dS.$$

We compute

$$X_5 + X_2 = X_6 = \int_D L_{,\beta}(\theta_\alpha \theta_\beta)_{,\alpha} d\boldsymbol{x} = \int_D (L\delta_{\gamma\alpha})_{,\beta}(\theta_\beta \theta_\gamma)_{,\alpha} d\boldsymbol{x}$$

Observe that

$$X_4 + X_6 = \int_D \{ (L\delta_{\gamma\alpha})_{,\beta} (\theta_{\beta}\theta_{\gamma})_{,\alpha} - (F_{i\gamma}P_{i\alpha})_{,\beta} (\theta_{\beta}\theta_{\gamma})_{,\alpha} \} d\boldsymbol{x} = \int_D P^*_{\gamma\alpha,\beta} (\theta_{\beta}\theta_{\gamma})_{,\alpha} d\boldsymbol{x}.$$

Then, integrating by parts and using (4.15), we obtain $X_4 + X_6 = X_7 + S_6$, where

$$X_7 = -\int_D (\nabla L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad S_6 = \int_{\partial D} ((\nabla \boldsymbol{P}^* \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) dS.$$

We have

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{P}^* \boldsymbol{\theta} = (L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{I} + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{I} + (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \boldsymbol{I} - (\nabla \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta})^T \boldsymbol{P} - \boldsymbol{F}^T \nabla \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{\theta}.$$

Therefore, $S_2 + S_6 = S_7 + S_8$, where

$$S_7 = \int_{\partial D} \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta})(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta})(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \} dS.$$

and

$$S_8 = \int_{\partial D} (\nabla F \theta, P((\theta, n)I - n \otimes \theta)) dS,$$

Next, observe that

$$abla oldsymbol{F}oldsymbol{ heta} =
abla_{\partial D}(oldsymbol{F}oldsymbol{ heta}) - oldsymbol{F}
abla_{\partial D}oldsymbol{ heta} + rac{\partialoldsymbol{F}}{\partialoldsymbol{n}}oldsymbol{ heta} \otimes oldsymbol{n}.$$

Therefore,

$$S_8 = \int_{\partial D} (\nabla_{\partial D} (\boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) - \boldsymbol{F} \nabla_{\partial D} \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{P} ((\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta})) dS$$

We also have

$$(\Theta^T(\nabla \theta) \theta, n) = (\nabla \cdot \theta)(\theta, n) - ((\nabla \theta) \theta, n) = (\nabla_{\partial D} \theta, (\theta, n) I - n \otimes \theta).$$

Hence, $S_2 + S_5 + S_6 = S_7 + Z_2$, where

$$Z_2 = \int_{\partial D} (\boldsymbol{P}^T \nabla_{\partial D} (\boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (\boldsymbol{P}^*)^T \nabla_{\partial D} \boldsymbol{\theta}, (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}) \} dS.$$

Step 6. Finally, observe that $X_7 + T_6 = 0$. Hence,

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + Z_1 + Z_2 + S_4 + S_7.$$

When $\theta(\mathbf{x}) = \mathbf{0}$ on ∂D , all surface integrals Z_1 , Z_2 , S_4 and S_7 vanish. The theorem is proved.

Remark 4.5. If we do not assume that y(x) is an extremal in Theorem 4.4, then

$$\delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_D(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + \mathfrak{S}_2 + \int_D (\mathcal{E}(L), \boldsymbol{\psi}') d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (4.19)$$

where $\mathcal{E}(L)$ and ψ' are given by (4.8) and (4.11), respectively. It follows that Theorem 4.4 is valid for $\mathbf{y} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d)$. Indeed, let $\mathbf{y}_n \in C^3(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d)$ be such that $\mathbf{y}_n \to \mathbf{y}$ in $C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d)$, as $n \to \infty$. Passing to the limit, we conclude that (4.19) holds for $\mathbf{y} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d)$, since both sides of (4.19) involve derivatives of $\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x})$ only up to order 2. The formula (4.17) follows, if $\mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x})$ is an extremal.

5 Extremals with jump discontinuities

In this section we focus on the case when F(x) has a jump discontinuity across a smooth interface Σ . We will derive the formulas for the first and second variation corresponding to inner-outer variation (2.6) in two ways. One, using the partial EL equivalence principle only on the smooth part of Ω via Theorems 4.3 and 4.4. The other, using the full EL equivalence principle extended to strong variations and studying $\Delta I(\phi_{\epsilon})$ for the EL equivalent variation (2.8).

Suppose that we can split Ω into the disjoint union of two domains Ω_+ , Ω_- (i.e. $\overline{\Omega} = \overline{\Omega_+} \cup \overline{\Omega_-}, \overline{\Omega_+} \cap \overline{\Omega_-} = \emptyset$), such that $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is of class C^2 on both $\overline{\Omega_+}$ and $\overline{\Omega_-}$. We assume that $\nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ has a jump discontinuity across a smooth surface $\Sigma \subset \overline{\Omega_+} \cap \overline{\Omega_-}$. By our convention the unit normal on Σ always points from Ω_- into Ω_+ .

5.1 First variation via partial EL equivalence

If $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ satisfies conditions of equilibrium in the bulk, then the first variation reduces to the the integral over the surface of discontinuity Σ . The vanishing of that integral results in the conditions of equilibrium for the surface Σ in the Eulerian and Lagrangian coordinates.

THEOREM 5.1. Assume that the Lipschitz map $\boldsymbol{y}: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^m$ is of class C^2 on $\overline{\Omega_{\pm}}$ and satisfies the Euler-Lagrange equation (4.14) on Ω_{\pm} . Then

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = -\int_{\Sigma} \{ (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) + p^* \xi(\boldsymbol{x}) \} dS,$$
(5.1)

where $\xi(\boldsymbol{x}) = (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n})$ and

$$p^* = \llbracket L \rrbracket - (\lbrace \boldsymbol{P} \rbrace, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket)$$
(5.2)

is called the Maxwell driving force on Σ . Here $\{a\} = \frac{1}{2}(a_+ + a_-)$ and $[a] = a_+ - a_-$.

Proof. According to Theorem 4.3

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta I_{\Omega_{+}}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) + \delta I_{\Omega_{-}}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) - \int_{\Sigma} \llbracket L \rrbracket(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) dS.$$
(5.3)

Integrating by parts and using the Euler-Lagrange equation (4.14) on Ω_{\pm} we obtain

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = -\int_{\Sigma} \{ \llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n},\boldsymbol{\psi}) \rrbracket + \llbracket L \rrbracket (\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{n}) \} dS.$$

We note that according to (2.11), $\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x})$ has a jump discontinuity across Σ :

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket = -\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{\theta}. \tag{5.4}$$

Using (5.4) and the product rule

$$[[ab]] = [[a]] \{ b \} + \{ a \} [[b]]$$
(5.5)

we obtain

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = -\int_{\Sigma} \{ (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) - (\{ \boldsymbol{P} \} \boldsymbol{n}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{\theta}) + \llbracket L \rrbracket (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \} dS.$$

Now we take into account the continuity of \boldsymbol{y} across the interface Σ in the form of the kinematic compatibility relation of Hadamard

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket = \boldsymbol{a} \otimes \boldsymbol{n}, \tag{5.6}$$

where $\boldsymbol{a} \colon \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}^m$. Recalling the definition (5.2) of p^* , we obtain (5.1).



Figure 2: Regions $V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)$.

Since the fields $\{\psi\}$ and ξ can be chosen arbitrarily and independently on Σ , the vanishing of the first variation implies the condition of equilibrium of Σ in Eulerian coordinates:

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n} = \boldsymbol{0}, \tag{5.7}$$

as well as the condition of equilibrium of Σ in Lagrangian coordinates:

$$p^* = 0.$$
 (5.8)

We have obtained m + 1 interface conditions (5.7–5.8), even though we have started with m + d independent variations ϕ and θ . This is explained by the principle of EL equivalence, according to which the variation fields ϕ and θ enter the first variation δI_{Ω} through the total discontinuous variation ψ . The formula (5.4) combined with (5.6) implies that

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket = -\boldsymbol{a}(\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) = -\xi(\boldsymbol{x}) \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \qquad \xi(\boldsymbol{x}) = (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}). \tag{5.9}$$

Hence the variations $\boldsymbol{\theta}$ and $\boldsymbol{\phi}$ enter the variation δI_{Ω} through m independent field variations $\{\boldsymbol{\psi}\}\$ and a single scalar surface variation field $\xi(\boldsymbol{x})$. The new degree of freedom ξ comes from the necessity to locate the surface of discontinuity in the d-dimensional space of Lagrangian labels.

5.2 First variation via full EL equivalence

The formula (5.1) can also be derived directly, by investigating the structure of the equivalent strong outer variation $\phi_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$, given by (2.8). Observe that the Taylor expansion (2.10) is still valid for all \boldsymbol{x} away from a small neighborhood of Σ . Therefore, one can use the equivalent variation $\phi_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) \sim \epsilon \boldsymbol{\psi}$, given by (2.11), on most of the domain Ω . The Taylor expansion (2.10) breaks down only in the small set $V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$ containing Σ (see Figure 2)

$$V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon) = \{ \boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega_{\pm} : \boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) \in \Omega_{\mp} \}.$$
(5.10)

We denote $V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon) = V_{\Sigma}^{+}(\epsilon) \cup V_{\Sigma}^{-}(\epsilon)$ and observe that the estimate (2.10) remains uniform in $\boldsymbol{x} \in \Omega \setminus V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$.

For $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$ it will be convenient to use the curvilinear orthogonal coordinate system based on Σ . Let $\boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{u}), \, \boldsymbol{u} \in U \subset \mathbb{R}^{d-1}$ be a local parametrization of Σ . When ϵ is small enough, every $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$ has a unique representation

$$\boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{u}) + \boldsymbol{z}\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{u}), \tag{5.11}$$

where $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{u})$ is the unit normal to Σ at $\boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{u})$, pointing from Ω_{-} into Ω_{+} . The standard Taylor expansion yields

$$\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{u}) + z\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{u}) - \epsilon\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{u}) + O(\epsilon^2), \qquad (5.12)$$

where $\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{u})$ is a shorthand for $\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{u}))$. If $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{+}(\epsilon)$ then $0 < z < \zeta(\boldsymbol{u};\epsilon)$, while, if $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{-}(\epsilon)$ then $0 > z > \zeta(\boldsymbol{u};\epsilon)$, where

$$\zeta(\boldsymbol{u};\epsilon) = \epsilon \xi(\boldsymbol{u}) + O(\epsilon^2), \qquad \xi(\boldsymbol{u}) = (\boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{u}), \boldsymbol{n}).$$
(5.13)

In particular, $z = O(\epsilon)$. We are now ready to analyze the equivalent outer variation.

We handle the jump discontinuity of F(x) by using the Taylor expansion around p(u), instead of the Taylor expansion (2.10) around x. We write

$$oldsymbol{F}_\epsilon(oldsymbol{x}) = oldsymbol{F}(oldsymbol{artheta}_\epsilon(oldsymbol{x}))
abla oldsymbol{artheta}_\epsilon(oldsymbol{x}) + \epsilon
abla oldsymbol{\phi}(oldsymbol{artheta}_\epsilon(oldsymbol{x}))
abla oldsymbol{artheta}_\epsilon(oldsymbol{x}),$$

where $\boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is given by (5.12) and

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{\vartheta}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = (\boldsymbol{I} + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}(\boldsymbol{x}) + O(\epsilon^2))^{-1} = \boldsymbol{I} - \epsilon (\nabla_{\boldsymbol{x}} \boldsymbol{\theta})(\boldsymbol{u}) + O(\epsilon^2).$$

Using these formulas to expand $F_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$, we obtain for $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)$

$$\boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \boldsymbol{F}_{\mp} + z \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}_{\mp}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp} + o(\epsilon),$$

where $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ is the equivalent weak outer variation away from Σ , given by (2.11). Also,

$$F(x) = F_{\pm} + z \frac{\partial F_{\pm}}{\partial n} + o(\epsilon).$$

The gradient of the equivalent outer variation is then equal to

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon} = \boldsymbol{F}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) - \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{cases} \mp \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \mp \boldsymbol{z} \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket + \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp} + \boldsymbol{o}(\epsilon), & \boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon), \\ \epsilon \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \boldsymbol{o}(\epsilon), & \boldsymbol{x} \notin V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon). \end{cases}$$
(5.14)

We may now apply the same Taylor expansion to $y_{\epsilon}(x)$ and y(x) as we have already done for $F_{\epsilon}(x)$ and F(x). We then obtain the structure of the equivalent outer variation $\phi_{\epsilon} = y_{\epsilon}(x) - y(x)$,

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon} = \begin{cases} \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}_{0}^{\pm} \left(\boldsymbol{u}, \frac{z}{\epsilon} \right) + o(\epsilon), & \boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon) \\ \epsilon \boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}) + o(\epsilon), & \boldsymbol{x} \notin V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon), \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

where

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_0^{\pm}(\boldsymbol{u},\tau) = \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp} \mp \tau \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}.$$

One can see that the equivalent outer variation is not a weak variation. It is localized in the normal direction around the surface Σ , while it has the form (2.4) of the weak variation outside of $V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$. In physical terms this variation can be associated with the nucleation of a new phase at the surface of discontinuity. The nucleation is very special because it can also be regarded as a displacement of the phase boundary in Lagrangian coordinates.

Observe that the EL equivalent variation gradient $\nabla \phi_{\epsilon}$ is not small on a small set $V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$, while it is small on a large set $\Omega \setminus V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$. In such situations one can use the Taylor expansion combined with the Euler-Lagrange equations. We start with

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) - I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{\Omega_{+}} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Omega_{-}} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\Sigma} \llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}) \rrbracket dS,$$

where

$$L^{\star} = L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}, \nabla \boldsymbol{y} + \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}) - L(\boldsymbol{x}) - (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}) - (\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}),$$

and $L(\boldsymbol{x})$, $L_{\boldsymbol{y}}(\boldsymbol{x})$ and $\boldsymbol{P}(\boldsymbol{x})$ denote L, $L_{\boldsymbol{y}}$ and $L_{\boldsymbol{F}}$, respectively, evaluated at $(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}), \nabla \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}))$. Obviously, $L^{\star} = O(\epsilon^2)$ on $\Omega \setminus V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$. Therefore,

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) - I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{V_{\Sigma}^{+}(\epsilon)} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{V_{\Sigma}^{+}(\epsilon)} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\Sigma} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}) dS + O(\epsilon^{2}).$$

Also, due to (5.13)

$$\int_{V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} = \pm \int_{\Sigma_{\pm}} \int_{0}^{\epsilon\xi} L^{\star} dz dS(\boldsymbol{u}) + O(\epsilon^{2}),$$

where $\Sigma_{\pm} = \Sigma \cap \overline{V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)}$. When $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)$ we have $L^{\star} = \mp \llbracket L \rrbracket \pm (\boldsymbol{P}_{\pm}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket) + O(\epsilon)$, while $\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon} = \epsilon \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp} + o(\epsilon)$, when $\boldsymbol{x} \in \Sigma_{\pm}$. Therefore, expressing

$$P_{\pm} = \{ P \} \pm \frac{1}{2} [P], \qquad \psi_{\pm} = \{ \psi \} \mp \frac{1}{2} a(u) \xi(u),$$

we obtain

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{I(\boldsymbol{y} + \boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}) - I(\boldsymbol{y})}{\epsilon} = -\int_{\Sigma} \{(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{\psi}\}\!\!\}) + p^* \xi(\boldsymbol{u})\} dS(\boldsymbol{u}),$$

thereby establishing (5.1) in a direct way.

5.3 Second variation via partial EL equivalence

We now suppose that the map $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is Lipschitz continuous on Ω and of class C^2 everywhere, except on the smooth singular surface Σ , where the gradient $\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \nabla \boldsymbol{y}$ suffers a jump discontinuity. In this case the general second variation (3.19) reduces, according to Theorem 4.4, to the sum of $\delta^2 I_{\Omega \setminus \Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0})$ and a surface integral over Σ involving the cumulative variation $\boldsymbol{\psi}$. THEOREM 5.2. Assume that the surface Σ of jump discontinuity of F(x) is orientable and has no boundary in Ω . Then

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_{\Omega \setminus \Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) - \mathfrak{S}, \qquad (5.16)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{S} = \int_{\Sigma} \left[2(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \{\!\!\{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}\!\!\}) \xi + \left(\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} - (\{\!\!\{ L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \}\!\!\}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) \right) \xi^2 + 2\xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{\!\!\{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}\!\!\}) \right] dS$$

and where we define $\partial p^* / \partial n$ as the formal derivative of p^* in the direction n:

$$\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left[\frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \right] - \left(\left\{ \boldsymbol{P} \right\}, \left[\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \right] \right) - \left(\left\{ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \right\}, \left[\boldsymbol{F} \right] \right).$$
(5.17)

Proof. First we choose a smooth unit normal field $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{x} \in \Sigma$. It is possible to partition Ω into two open sets Ω_+, Ω_- and Σ in such a way that the unit normal $\boldsymbol{n}(\boldsymbol{x})$ points from Ω_- into Ω_+ (see Section 5.1). It follows from Theorem 4.4, applied to Ω_+ and Ω_- that

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_{\Omega \setminus \Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\psi},\mathbf{0}) - I_1 - I_2 - I_3,$$

where

$$I_{1} = 2 \int_{\Sigma} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P}^{T} \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket, (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}) dS,$$

$$I_{2} = \int_{\Sigma} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P}^{*} \rrbracket^{T} \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\theta} + \llbracket \boldsymbol{P}^{T} \nabla_{\Sigma} (\boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \rrbracket, (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}) dS,$$

$$I_{3} = \int_{\Sigma} \{\llbracket (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, 2\boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \rrbracket + (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\theta}) \} (\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n}) dS.$$

Step 1. Let us simplify the first integral I_1 . The jump of the product formula (5.5) and continuity of tractions (5.7) give

$$I_1 = 2 \int_{\Sigma} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \{ \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) \xi dS + I'_1,$$

where

$$I_1' = 2 \int_{\Sigma} \{ \xi(\{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{P}\}\!\!\}, \nabla_{\Sigma}[\!\![\boldsymbol{\psi}]\!\!]) - (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, (\nabla_{\Sigma}[\!\![\boldsymbol{\psi}]\!\!])\boldsymbol{\theta}) \} dS.$$

Step 2. We decompose $\theta(x)$ into its tangential and normal components

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} = \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau} + \boldsymbol{\xi} \boldsymbol{n}, \tag{5.18}$$

and show that only the normal component ξ of θ contributes to the second variation. In I'_1 we eliminate $\llbracket \psi \rrbracket$ by means of (5.9):

$$abla_{\Sigma}\llbracket \psi
rbracket = -\llbracket F
rbracket n \otimes
abla_{\Sigma} \xi - \xi
abla_{\Sigma} (\llbracket F
rbracket n).$$

We claim that

$$\nabla_{\Sigma}(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) = \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket (\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{n}).$$
(5.19)

Indeed, using (4.18) we obtain

$$\nabla_{\Sigma}(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n})_{i\beta} = \llbracket (F_{i\alpha,\beta} - F_{i\alpha,\gamma} n_{\gamma} n_{\beta}) n_{\alpha} \rrbracket + (\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{n})_{i\beta}$$

The second term vanishes because the matrix $\nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{n}$ is symmetric and, by (5.6),

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{n} = \boldsymbol{a} \otimes (\nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{n})^T \boldsymbol{n} = \boldsymbol{a} \otimes (\nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{n}) \boldsymbol{n} = \boldsymbol{0}$$

Recalling that $F_{i\alpha} = y_{i,\alpha}$ we conclude that

$$\nabla_{\Sigma}(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n})_{i\beta} = \llbracket F_{i\beta,\alpha}n_{\alpha} - F_{i\alpha,\gamma}n_{\gamma}n_{\beta}n_{\alpha} \rrbracket.$$

This formula is just (5.19) written out in components. We can now write

$$\begin{split} I_1' &= 2 \int_{\Sigma} \{ (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, [\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}) (\nabla_{\Sigma}\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) + \xi (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) - \xi (\{\!\{\boldsymbol{P}\}\!\} \nabla_{\Sigma}\xi, [\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}) \\ &- \xi^2 (\{\!\{\boldsymbol{P}\}\!\}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]) + \xi^2 (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}) \} dS. \end{split}$$

Step 3. Consider now the integral I_2 . In order to simplify it we need to use a well-known relation

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{P}^* \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n} = p^* \boldsymbol{n}, \tag{5.20}$$

which is a consequence of the application of the jump of the product formula (5.5) and kinematic compatibility relation (5.6) to the definition (3.7) of \mathbf{P}^* . Using (5.5), (5.7), (5.8) and (5.20) we can write $I_2 = I_{21} + I_{22}$, where

$$I_{21} = \int_{\Sigma} (\{ \boldsymbol{P} \} (\xi \boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}), \nabla_{\Sigma} ([\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!] \boldsymbol{\theta})) dS,$$
$$I_{22} = \int_{\Sigma} (\xi ([\![\boldsymbol{P}_*]\!], \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\theta}) + \xi ([\![\boldsymbol{P}]\!], \nabla_{\Sigma} (\{\!\{\boldsymbol{F} \}\!\} \boldsymbol{\theta}))) dS$$

Simplifying the integral I_{21} using (5.6) and (5.19) and expanding, we obtain

$$I_{21} = \int_{\Sigma} \left(\xi^{2}(\{ \boldsymbol{P} \}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]) - \xi^{2}(\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}) - \xi(\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]\boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) - ([\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n})(\nabla_{\Sigma}\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) + \xi([\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}, \{\![\boldsymbol{P}]\!]\}\nabla_{\Sigma}\xi) \right) dS.$$

Next, we integrate by parts in I_{22} . We use the following integration by parts formula

$$\int_{\Sigma} (\boldsymbol{f}, \nabla_{\Sigma} \phi) dS(\boldsymbol{x}) = \int_{\Sigma} \{ \phi(\boldsymbol{f}, \boldsymbol{n}) \nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} - \phi \nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{f} \} dS,$$
(5.21)

which holds provided, either **f** or ϕ vanishes at every point on the boundary of Σ (which is on $\partial \Omega$ by assumption). We obtain

$$\begin{split} I_{22} &= \int_{\Sigma} \left(\xi^2 \llbracket \frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket - \xi^2 (\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) - \xi^2 (\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \} \boldsymbol{n}) - \xi (\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) - \\ & \llbracket L \rrbracket (\nabla_{\Sigma} \xi, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) + \xi (\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{ \boldsymbol{P} \} \nabla_{\Sigma} \xi) - \xi (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\theta}) - \xi (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{ \boldsymbol{F} \} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \right) dS, \end{split}$$

where we have also used (5.7), (5.20), and the following equations

$$\nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{P} = \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P} - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n} = L_{\boldsymbol{y}} - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n}, \qquad (5.22)$$

$$\nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{P}_{*} = \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{P}_{*} - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}_{*}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n} = L_{\boldsymbol{x}} - \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}_{*}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n} = L_{\boldsymbol{x}} - \frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n} + \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}^{T}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n} + \boldsymbol{F}^{T} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n}.$$

Adding the integrals I_{21} and I_{22} , taking into account that $\llbracket L \rrbracket = (\llbracket F \rrbracket n, Pn)$, we obtain

$$I_{2} = \int_{\Sigma} \left(\xi^{2} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \end{bmatrix} + \xi^{2} (\{\boldsymbol{P}\}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \end{bmatrix}) - 2\xi^{2} (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{n}) - \xi^{2} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}\} \boldsymbol{n}) - 2\xi (\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \end{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) - 2(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}) (\nabla_{\Sigma}\xi, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\tau}) + 2\xi (\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{\boldsymbol{P}\} \nabla_{\Sigma}\xi) - \xi (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\theta}) - \xi (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{\boldsymbol{F}\} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \right) dS.$$

Adding I'_1 and I_2 we get, by virtue of

$$(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}, \{ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \} \boldsymbol{n}) = (\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket, \{ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \}),$$

that, due to (5.6),

$$I_1' + I_2 = \int_{\Sigma} \left\{ \xi^2 \frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} - \xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\theta}) - \xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{ \boldsymbol{F} \} \boldsymbol{\theta}) \right\} dS,$$

where we have used the definition (5.17) of $\partial p^* / \partial n$.

Step 4. Using the product rule formula (5.5) we obtain

$$I_{3} = \int_{\Sigma} \{\xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + 2\xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) + \xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{ \boldsymbol{F} \} \boldsymbol{\theta}) + 2\xi(\{ L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket) + \xi(\{ L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{\theta}) \} dS.$$

Recalling the formulas (5.6) and (5.9), we finally obtain

$$I_1' + I_2 + I_3 = \int_{\Sigma} \left\{ \xi^2 \left(\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} - (\{\!\!\{ L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \}\!\!\}, [\!\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}) \right) + 2\xi([\!\![L_{\boldsymbol{y}}]\!], \{\!\!\{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}\!\!\}) \right\} dS.$$
2 is now proved.

Theorem 5.2 is now proved.

It appears, as though the contribution of the surface Σ to the second variation depends on the extension of $F(\mathbf{x})$ into $\Omega \setminus \Sigma$ via the term $\xi^2 \partial p^* / \partial \mathbf{n}$. This is not so because $\partial p^* / \partial \mathbf{n}$ depends only on the traces F_{\pm} of F(x) on Σ and their tangential derivatives $\nabla_{\Sigma} F_{\pm}$:

$$\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} = (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma}(\lbrace \boldsymbol{F} \rbrace \boldsymbol{n}) - \lbrace \boldsymbol{F} \rbrace \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{n}) + (\nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \lbrace \boldsymbol{P} \rbrace, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) + (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{x}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n}) + (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \lbrace \boldsymbol{F} \rbrace \boldsymbol{n}).$$

In particular, if $L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}) = W(\boldsymbol{F})$, the surface Σ is planar and $\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is constant along Σ , then $\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} = 0.$

5.4 Second variation via full EL equivalence

We now derive the formula (5.16) directly by using the explicit structure (5.14) of the EL equivalent strong outer variation ϕ_{ϵ} introduced in (2.8).

Here we assume that the first variation $\delta I_{\Omega}(\phi, \theta)$ vanishes. In order to derive the formula for the second variation we simply use the technique of Section 5.2, while carrying the expansion of the energy increment to the second order in ϵ . We have

$$I(\boldsymbol{y}_{\epsilon}) - I(\boldsymbol{y}) = \int_{V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} + \int_{\Omega \setminus V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x}, \qquad (5.23)$$

On $\Omega \setminus V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$ the variation ϕ_{ϵ} given by (5.15) is equivalent to $\epsilon \psi$, and therefore,

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \int_{\Omega \setminus V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)} L^* d\boldsymbol{x} = \frac{1}{2} \delta^2 I_{\Omega \setminus \Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{0}).$$
(5.24)

To expand the second term in (5.23) we need to expand L^* to the first order in ϵ , since the set $V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)$ has $O(\epsilon)$ measure. This is done using the formulas (5.11), (5.14) and (5.15). If $\boldsymbol{x} \in V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)$, then

$$\begin{split} L^{\star} &= \mp p^{*} \mp z \left[\llbracket \frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket - (\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}_{\pm}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket) - (\boldsymbol{P}_{\pm}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket) - (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}^{\pm}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) \right] \\ &\mp \epsilon [(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp}) + (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp})] + o(\epsilon). \end{split}$$

The Maxwell relation $p^* = 0$ then implies that $L^* = O(\epsilon)$. Therefore,

$$\int_{V_{\Sigma}^{\pm}(\epsilon)} L^{\star} d\boldsymbol{x} = -\frac{\epsilon^2}{2} \int_{\Sigma_{\pm}} \Lambda^{\pm} dS + o(\epsilon^2),$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Lambda^{\pm} &= \xi^2 \left[\llbracket \frac{\partial L}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket - (\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}_{\pm}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket) - (\boldsymbol{P}_{\pm}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket) - (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}^{\pm}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) \right] \\ &+ 2\xi [(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp}) + (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{\psi}_{\mp})]. \end{split}$$

It remains to observe that

$$\int_{\Sigma_{\pm}} \llbracket \Lambda \rrbracket(\boldsymbol{u}) dS(\boldsymbol{u}) = 0.$$
(5.25)

Indeed,

$$-\llbracket\Lambda\rrbracket = \xi^2 \left[(\llbracket\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}\rrbracket, \llbracket\boldsymbol{F}\rrbracket) + (\llbracket\boldsymbol{P}\rrbracket, \llbracket\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}\rrbracket) + (\llbracket\boldsymbol{L}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\rrbracket, \llbracket\boldsymbol{F}\rrbracket\boldsymbol{n}) \right] + 2\xi[(\llbracket\boldsymbol{P}\rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma}\llbracket\boldsymbol{\psi}\rrbracket) + (\llbracket\boldsymbol{L}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\rrbracket, \llbracket\boldsymbol{\psi}\rrbracket)].$$

We can now use (5.9) and the relations

$$(\llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket) = (\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}) - (\nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}),$$

which follows from (5.22), and

$$(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P}
rbracket, \llbracket \boldsymbol{\partial} oldsymbol{F} rac{\partial oldsymbol{F}}{\partial oldsymbol{n}}
rbracket) = (\llbracket oldsymbol{P}
rbracket,
abla
rbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma}(\llbracket oldsymbol{F}
rbracket, oldsymbol{n})).$$

which follows from (5.19) and (5.7) to obtain

$$\llbracket \Lambda \rrbracket = \nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot (\xi^2 \llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket^T \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n}).$$

The desired relation (5.25) follows from the fact that due to (5.7) the vector field $\xi^2 \llbracket P \rrbracket^T \llbracket F \rrbracket n$ is tangent to Σ and ξ vanishes on the boundaries of Σ_{\pm} (since, these boundaries are either points where ξ changes sign or points on $\partial\Omega$, where ξ vanishes). Moreover, regardless of the boundary values of ξ , the expression $\llbracket P \rrbracket^T \llbracket F \rrbracket n$ must necessarily vanish for stable jump discontinuities, as we have recently shown in [26]. In any case we obtain, using (5.17), that

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \int_{V_{\Sigma}(\epsilon)} L^* d\boldsymbol{x} &= -\int_{\Sigma} \bigg[\left(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \{\!\!\!\!\ \boldsymbol{\psi} \,\} \right) \xi \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} - \left(\{\!\!\!\!\ L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \,\}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n} \right) \right) \xi^2 + \xi \left(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket, \{\!\!\!\!\ \boldsymbol{\psi} \,\} \right) \bigg] \, dS, \end{split}$$

Combining this relation with (5.24) we obtain the result (5.16).

The link between the formula (5.16) and the calculations of Grinfeld [29] who used the Weierstrass-Erdmann technique is discussed in the Appendix A.

6 Global necessary conditions

6.1 General conditions

If $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is a strong local minimizer, then the first variation $\delta I(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$ must vanish, while the second variation $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$ must be non-negative.

The condition of vanishing of the first variation leads to two types of equations

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \mathbf{0}) = \int_{\Omega} \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\phi}) + (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}) \} d\boldsymbol{x} = 0,$$
(6.1)

for all $\phi \in Var$, and

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\mathbf{0}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \int_{\Omega} \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (\boldsymbol{P}^*, \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) \} d\boldsymbol{x} = 0,$$
(6.2)

for all $\boldsymbol{\theta} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap C_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$. For general Lipschitz extremals these two equations should be regarded as independent. By contrast, in the case of C^2 extremals, (6.2) becomes a corollary of (6.1).

In the case of interest, when singularities are present, the Eshelby equation (6.2) reduces to conditions localized at the singular set. For example, when $\boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is of class C^2 , except on a smooth surface of jump discontinuity for F(x), equations (6.1) and (6.2) produce additional jump conditions: the continuity of tractions $[\![P]\!]n = 0$ and the Maxwell relation

$$\llbracket L \rrbracket - (\lbrace \boldsymbol{P} \rbrace, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket) = 0.$$
(6.3)

If the singular set Σ has co-dimension larger than 1, then there exists a family D_{ϵ} of smooth subdomains of Ω such that $|\Omega \setminus D_{\epsilon}| \to 0$, as $\epsilon \to 0$, $\Sigma \subset \Omega \setminus D_{\epsilon}$ and the surface area of ∂D_{ϵ} goes to zero. Then, the boundedness of F(x) implies

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \delta I_{D_{\epsilon}}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}).$$

Applying Theorem 4.3 with $D = D_{\epsilon}$ we obtain

$$\delta I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi},\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left\{ \delta I_{D_{\epsilon}}(\boldsymbol{\psi},\mathbf{0}) + \int_{\partial D_{\epsilon}} L(\boldsymbol{\theta},\boldsymbol{n}) dS \right\}.$$

Since the surface area of ∂D_{ϵ} goes to zero, we obtain $\delta I_{\Omega}(\phi, \theta) = \delta I_{\Omega \setminus \Sigma}(\psi, 0)$. In other words, the weak form of the Eshelby equation (6.2) is a consequence of the weak form of the Euler-Lagrange equation (6.1), and the variational functional "does not see" singularities of co-dimension more than 1 at the level of first variation. By contrast, the method above can provide non-trivial information about singularities with *unbounded* F(x) (e.g. [8]).

We now turn to the condition of non-negativity of second variation. In the general case we can use (3.19) to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \{ 2J_2(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta})L + 2((L_{\boldsymbol{x}}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{y}}, \boldsymbol{\phi}))\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{\theta} + (L_{\boldsymbol{xx}}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{yy}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{xy}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) + 2(P\Theta(\nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}), \boldsymbol{H}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{FF}}\boldsymbol{H}, \boldsymbol{H}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{Fx}}\boldsymbol{\theta} + L_{\boldsymbol{Fy}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{H}) \} d\boldsymbol{x} \ge 0. \quad (6.4)$$

This inequality has to hold for every choice of $\phi \in \text{Var}$ and $\theta \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap C_0(\Omega; \mathbb{R}^d)$. If $\boldsymbol{y} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ then the non-negativity of (3.19) is equivalent to the non-negativity of the classical second variation:

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \mathbf{0}) = \int_{\Omega} \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{y}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\phi}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}\nabla\boldsymbol{\phi}, \nabla\boldsymbol{\phi}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\phi}, \nabla\boldsymbol{\phi}) \} d\boldsymbol{x} \ge 0.$$
(6.5)

In the case of a smooth surface of jump discontinuity, condition (6.4) reduces to

$$\int_{\Omega} \{ (L_{\boldsymbol{y}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\psi},\boldsymbol{\psi}) + (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}\widetilde{\nabla}\boldsymbol{\psi},\widetilde{\nabla}\boldsymbol{\psi}) + 2(L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{y}}\boldsymbol{\psi},\widetilde{\nabla}\boldsymbol{\psi}) \} d\boldsymbol{x} - \int_{\Sigma} \{ 2(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{\psi}\}\!\!\}) \xi + \left(\frac{\partial p^{*}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} - (\{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{L}_{\boldsymbol{y}}\}\!\!\},\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n})\right) \xi^{2} + 2\xi(\llbracket L_{\boldsymbol{y}} \rrbracket,\{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{\psi}\}\!\!\}) \} dS \ge 0, \quad (6.6)$$

where $\widetilde{\nabla} \psi$ is the regular part of the gradients of the discontinuous function ψ . The surface term containing $[\![P]\!]$, represents the prestress of the interface and can have a destabilizing

effect, capable of making the second variation negative, even when the tangential elasticity tensor $L_{FF}(\mathbf{x})$ is uniformly positive definite (see the example in Section 6.2).

If F(x) is singular on a set of higher co-dimension, we proceed as in the case of the first variation, to obtain

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \delta^2 I_{D_{\epsilon}}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}).$$

We then apply Theorem 4.4 and conclude that EL equivalence principle

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_{\Omega \setminus \Sigma}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) \tag{6.7}$$

holds, provided $|\nabla \mathbf{F}(\mathbf{x})|\epsilon^{k-1} \to 0$, when the distance between \mathbf{x} and Σ is ϵ , and k is the co-dimension of Σ . If $|\nabla \mathbf{F}|$ grows faster as we approach the singularity then we may not conclude that (6.7) holds, because

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\partial D_{\epsilon}} (\nabla_{\partial D_{\epsilon}} (\boldsymbol{F} \boldsymbol{\theta}), \boldsymbol{P}((\boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta})) dS$$

might be non-zero.

This analysis shows that certain singularities of higher co-dimension may be "invisible" by the functional $I(\mathbf{y})$. This may explain the surprising counterexamples to regularity in vectorial variational problems [44, 54] in high dimensions.

6.2 Example

In this example we deal with an equilibrium configuration whose instability can at present be only detected by examining the global inner-outer second variation (5.16).

Consider the vectorial 2D problem with the double-well energy density $L(\mathbf{F})$ in the form $L(\mathbf{F}) = W(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon})$, where $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = (\mathbf{F} + \mathbf{F}^T)/2$ and \mathbf{F} is a 2 × 2 matrix. This energy density comes from the problem of finding energy-minimizing composite materials [34]. Assume that

$$W(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) = \min\{f_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}), f_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon})\}, \qquad f_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathsf{C}_{\pm}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) + w_{\pm}, \tag{6.8}$$

where $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \in \operatorname{Sym}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ and the two isotropic phases have different elastic moduli

$$\mathsf{C}_{\pm}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} = \kappa_{\pm}(\operatorname{Tr}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon})\boldsymbol{I} + 2\mu_{\pm}\left(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \frac{1}{2}(\operatorname{Tr}\boldsymbol{\varepsilon})\boldsymbol{I}\right)$$

with $\kappa_+ > \kappa_- > 0$, $\mu_+ > \mu_- > 0$.

Remark 6.1. If the transformation strains $\varepsilon_{\pm}^{\circ}$ are present, they can be eliminated by a simple affine transformation, provided [C] is invertible [12, 43, 21]. It is enough to observe that if

$$\widehat{W}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) = \min\{\frac{1}{2}(\mathsf{C}_{+}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{+}^{\circ}), \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{+}^{\circ}) + \widehat{w}_{+}, \frac{1}{2}(\mathsf{C}_{-}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{-}^{\circ}), \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_{-}^{\circ}) + \widehat{w}_{-}\}$$
(6.9)



Figure 3: The heterogeneous disc

then

$$\widehat{W}(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) = W(\boldsymbol{\varepsilon} - \overline{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}) + (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ}, \overline{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}}),$$

where

$$\overline{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}} = \llbracket \mathsf{C} \rrbracket^{-1} \llbracket \mathsf{C} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\circ} \rrbracket, \qquad \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ} = \{ \mathsf{C} \} \overline{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}} - \{ \mathsf{C} \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\circ} \} = \mathsf{C}_{\pm} (\overline{\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}} - \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\circ}_{\pm}), \qquad w_{\pm} = \widehat{w}_{\pm} - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ}, \boldsymbol{\varepsilon}^{\circ}_{\pm})$$

Therefore the double-well energy (6.9) is equivalent to the energy (6.8).

Assume that Ω is the unit disk, which is loaded by uniform pressure $\sigma n = p_0 n$ (see Figure 3). Consider the radially symmetric equilibrium configuration

with the two phases located at $0 < r < r_*$ and $r_* < r < 1$. It will be convenient to denote

$$\gamma(r) = \frac{\beta_-}{r^2}, \qquad \gamma_* = \frac{\beta_-}{r_*^2}.$$

The continuity of displacements and tractions on the gradient discontinuity $r = r_*$ are equivalent to

$$\llbracket \alpha \rrbracket = \gamma_*, \qquad \llbracket \kappa \alpha \rrbracket = -\mu_- \gamma_*, \tag{6.10}$$

respectively. Solving for α_{\pm} we obtain

$$\alpha_{\pm} = -\frac{\gamma_*}{[\kappa]} (\kappa_{\mp} + \mu_-)$$

The Maxwell condition can be written as

$$p^* = \frac{1}{2}(\llbracket \boldsymbol{\sigma} \rrbracket, \{ \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \}) - \frac{1}{2}(\{ \boldsymbol{\sigma} \}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{\varepsilon} \rrbracket) + \llbracket \boldsymbol{w} \rrbracket = 0.$$
(6.11)

Eliminating α_{\pm} from (6.10) and substituting into (6.11) we obtain the equation for γ_*

$$2(\kappa_{-} + \mu_{-})(\kappa_{+} + \mu_{-})\gamma_{*}^{2} + \llbracket w \rrbracket \llbracket \kappa \rrbracket = 0.$$
(6.12)

Finally, the pressure boundary conditions on $|\boldsymbol{x}| = 1$ result, after a simple computation, using (6.10), in

$$p_0 = -2\gamma_* \left(\kappa_- \frac{\kappa_+ + \mu_-}{[\kappa]} + \mu_- r_*^2\right).$$
(6.13)

We see that among the two solutions γ_* of (6.12) we need to choose the one with the sign opposite to p_0 . If we substitute that value of γ_* from (6.12) into (6.13) we will obtain the equation for r_* . The inequality $0 < r_* < 1$ implies the restrictions on the values of p_0 for which the heterogeneous configuration shown in Figure 3 is possible:

$$2|\gamma_*|\kappa_-\frac{\kappa_++\mu_-}{\llbracket\kappa\rrbracket} \le |p_0| \le 2|\gamma_*|\kappa_+\frac{\kappa_-+\mu_-}{\llbracket\kappa\rrbracket}.$$

Once r_* are γ_* are determined the parameters α_{\pm} and $\beta_- = \gamma_* r_*^2$ are also determined.

We will now examine the global stability condition (5.16) on the fields

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{cases} A_{+}\boldsymbol{x}, & \text{if } |\boldsymbol{x}| \leq r_{*}, \\ \\ \left(A_{-} + \frac{B_{-}}{r^{2}}\right)\boldsymbol{x}, & \text{if } r_{*} \leq |\boldsymbol{x}| \leq 1, \end{cases}$$
(6.14)

By using an auxiliary condition $(\mathsf{C}_- \nabla \psi) \boldsymbol{n} = \boldsymbol{0}$ on $|\boldsymbol{x}| = 1$ we obtain

We can now compute

$$E_{+} = \int_{\Omega_{+}} (\mathsf{C}_{+} \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}) d\boldsymbol{x} = 4\pi r_{*}^{2} \kappa_{+} A_{+}^{2}.$$
$$E_{-} = \int_{\Omega_{-}} (\mathsf{C}_{-} \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}) d\boldsymbol{x} = 4\pi (1 - r_{*}^{2}) \kappa_{-} A_{-}^{2} \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{-}}{\mu_{-} r_{*}^{2}} \right)$$

On $|\boldsymbol{x}| = r_*$ we obtain

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket = \left(A_{+} - A_{-} \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{-}}{\mu_{-} r_{*}^{2}} \right) \right) \boldsymbol{x},$$

while $[\![\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}]\!]\boldsymbol{n} = -(2\gamma_*/r_*)\boldsymbol{x}$. Therefore, according to (5.9),

$$\xi = \frac{r_*}{2\gamma_*} \left(A_+ - A_- \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_-}{\mu_- r_*^2} \right) \right).$$

By using

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{\sigma} \rrbracket = -4\mu_{-}\gamma_{*}(\boldsymbol{I} - \hat{\boldsymbol{x}} \otimes \hat{\boldsymbol{x}}).$$
(6.15)

we obtain

$$S_{1} = 2 \int_{|\boldsymbol{x}|=r_{*}} ([\boldsymbol{\sigma}]], \{\!\!\{ \widetilde{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\psi} \}\!\!\}) \xi dS(\boldsymbol{x}) = -4\pi r_{*}^{2} \mu_{-} \left(A_{+}^{2} - A_{-}^{2} \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{-}}{\mu_{-} r_{*}^{2}} \right)^{2} \right).$$

We compute $\frac{\partial p^*}{\partial n} = 0$, and therefore, $S_2 = 0$. Thus, we obtain

$$\frac{\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0})}{4\pi} = r_*^2 (\kappa_+ + \mu_-) A_+^2 - r_*^2 (\kappa_- + \mu_-) A_-^2 \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_-}{\mu_- r_*^2} \right).$$

The quadratic form $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}$ is always indefinite. Therefore, the radially symmetric heterogeneous configurations in the unit ball are always unstable. Since the instability is with respect to radial variations, it can also be detected using the method of Lifshitz and Gulida [39, 38], where a radial equilibrium boundary value problem is solved and the second derivative of the energy at the equilibrium r_* , given by the Maxwell relation, is computed.

In a companion paper [23] we show that the extremal tested in this example satisfies both the quasiconvexity and the classical second variation conditions. Local stability condition, derived in the next section, is therefore, also satisfied.

7 Local necessary conditions

7.1 General conditions

We recall that in classical calculus of variations the Legendre-Hadamard condition is the localization of classical second variation condition $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \mathbf{0}) \geq 0$. If we take a sequence of test functions

$$\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \epsilon \boldsymbol{\phi}_{0}((\boldsymbol{x} - \boldsymbol{x}_{0})/\epsilon), \tag{7.1}$$

where $\phi_0 \in C_0^{\infty}(B; \mathbb{R}^m)$ and B is the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^d , we obtain

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{0})}{\epsilon^d} = \int_B (L_{\boldsymbol{FF}}(\boldsymbol{x}_0) \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}_0, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}_0)) d\boldsymbol{x} \ge 0.$$

This condition is equivalent, via the density argument, to the inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (L_{FF}(\boldsymbol{x}_0) \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\phi})) d\boldsymbol{x} \ge 0$$
(7.2)

which must hold for all $\phi \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^d; \mathbb{R}^m)$. Applying the Parceval's identity we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (L_{FF}(\boldsymbol{x}_0)(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\phi}}(\boldsymbol{k}) \otimes \boldsymbol{k}), \widehat{\boldsymbol{\phi}}(\boldsymbol{k}) \otimes \boldsymbol{k}) d\boldsymbol{k} \ge 0,$$
(7.3)

where $\hat{\phi}(\mathbf{k})$ is the Fourier transform of $\phi(\mathbf{x})$. We conclude that (7.2) holds if and only if the acoustic tensor $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{n})$ at \mathbf{F}_0 is non-negative definite for all directions \mathbf{n} . The acoustic tensor is a symmetric $m \times m$ matrix $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{n})$ defined in terms of its quadratic form:

$$(\boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{u}) = (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}(\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{n}),\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{n}).$$
(7.4)

In addition to the acoustic tensor A(n), let us define the 4-linear "acoustic form" described by an $m \times m$ matrix A(m, n):

$$(\boldsymbol{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{u},\boldsymbol{v})=(L_{\boldsymbol{FF}}(\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{m}),\boldsymbol{v}\otimes\boldsymbol{n}).$$

Then A(n) = A(n, n) and $A^T(m, n) = A(n, m)$. Let

$$\Gamma(m, n) = (A(m, n) + A(n, m))/2, \quad \Lambda(m, n) = (A(m, n) - A(n, m))/2$$

be the symmetric and antisymmetric parts of the acoustic form A(m, n), respectively. Once the direction of the unit normal n is chosen, we denote with a subscript "+" the trace on the phase boundary from the region to which n points. The other trace is denoted with the subscript "-". The formulas that contain no + or - subscripts should be understood as two formulas for each of the two subscripts.

7.2 Localization of the second variation

Below we perform the general localization analysis, which is the direct analog of the classical Legendre-Hadamard analysis based on (7.1) and (7.3). Such analysis was first done by Grinfeld [28, 29] in the context of a special example.

We begin by choosing the same sequence of test functions $\phi_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ and $\theta_{\epsilon}(\boldsymbol{x})$ as in (7.1) and using them in the formula (3.19) to obtain the expression for $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$. If $\boldsymbol{x}_0 \in \Sigma$ then by changing variables $\boldsymbol{x} = \boldsymbol{x}_0 + \epsilon \boldsymbol{z}$ we obtain

$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_{\epsilon}, \boldsymbol{\theta}_{\epsilon})}{\epsilon^d} = \delta^2 I_{\text{loc}}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_0, \boldsymbol{\theta}_0).$$
(7.5)

The localized second variation $\delta^2 I_{\text{loc}}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_0, \boldsymbol{\theta}_0)$ retains the same form as the original general second variation $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$, except the surface of discontinuity Σ is replaced by its tangent plane $T_{\boldsymbol{x}_0}\Sigma$ at \boldsymbol{x}_0 and $\boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x})$ is replaced with

$$\overline{\boldsymbol{F}}(\boldsymbol{z}) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \boldsymbol{F}(\boldsymbol{x}_0 + \epsilon \boldsymbol{z}) = \begin{cases} \boldsymbol{F}_+, & \text{if } \boldsymbol{z} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} > 0\\ \boldsymbol{F}_-, & \text{if } \boldsymbol{z} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} < 0. \end{cases}$$
(7.6)

Therefore, the same argument, leading from (3.19) to (5.16) holds and results in the formula

$$\delta^2 I_{\rm loc}(\boldsymbol{\phi}_0, \boldsymbol{\theta}_0) = \int_B (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}(\boldsymbol{z}) \widetilde{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\psi}, \widetilde{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\psi}) d\boldsymbol{z} - \int_{T_{\boldsymbol{x}_0} \Sigma \cap B} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) \xi(\boldsymbol{z}) dS(\boldsymbol{z}),$$

where

$$L_{FF}(\boldsymbol{z}) = L_{FF}(\boldsymbol{x}_0, \boldsymbol{y}(\boldsymbol{x}_0), \overline{\boldsymbol{F}}(\boldsymbol{z})), \qquad \boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{z}) = \boldsymbol{\phi}_0(\boldsymbol{z}) - \overline{\boldsymbol{F}}(\boldsymbol{z})\boldsymbol{\theta}_0(\boldsymbol{z}), \qquad \boldsymbol{\xi}(\boldsymbol{z}) = (\boldsymbol{\theta}_0(\boldsymbol{z}), \boldsymbol{n}).$$

The remaining terms in (5.16) vanish in the limit (7.5), because the rescaled Lagrangian $L_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{F}) = L(\mathbf{x}_0, \mathbf{y}(\mathbf{x}_0), \mathbf{F})$ does not depend on \mathbf{x} and \mathbf{y} explicitly and because the field $\overline{\mathbf{F}}(\mathbf{z})$ is piecewise constant.

The density argument, as in the classical case allows us to define the localized condition

$$\delta^{2}I_{\text{loc}}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (L_{\boldsymbol{F}\boldsymbol{F}}(\boldsymbol{z})\widetilde{\nabla}\boldsymbol{\psi}, \widetilde{\nabla}\boldsymbol{\psi}) d\boldsymbol{z} - \int_{\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}}} (\llbracket\boldsymbol{P}\rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma}\{\boldsymbol{\psi}\}) \xi(\boldsymbol{z}) dS(\boldsymbol{z}) \ge 0, \quad (7.7)$$

where $\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}} = \{ \boldsymbol{z} \in \mathbb{R}^d : (\boldsymbol{z}, \boldsymbol{n}) = 0 \}$. The fields $\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\pm} \in C^1(\mathbb{H}_{\pm}; \mathbb{R}^m) \cap H^1(\mathbb{H}_{\pm}; \mathbb{R}^m)$ and $\xi \in C^1(\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}}) \cap L^2(\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}})$ satisfy

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket = -\boldsymbol{a}\xi(\boldsymbol{z}), \tag{7.8}$$

where \boldsymbol{a} is defined in (5.6) and

$$\mathbb{H}_{\pm} = \{ \boldsymbol{z} \in \mathbb{R}^d : \pm(\boldsymbol{z}, \boldsymbol{n}) > 0 \}.$$

Continuing the parallel with the classical Legendre-Hadamard condition we analyze the non-negativity of (7.7) by means of the Parceval's identity. The difference here is that Parceval's identity could be used only along the plane Π_n [1, 10]. In the normal direction, derivatives cannot be eliminated via a Fourier transform.

First we consider the bulk term

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (L_{FF}(\boldsymbol{z}) \widetilde{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\psi}, \widetilde{\nabla} \boldsymbol{\psi}) d\boldsymbol{z} = B^+ + B^-,$$

where

$$B^{\pm} = \int_{\mathbb{H}_{\pm}} (L_{FF}^{\pm} \nabla \psi, \nabla \psi) dz$$

Now we can apply the d-1-dimensional Parceval's identity along the plane Π_n :

$$B^{\pm} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}}} \left\{ (\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{\pm}, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{\pm}) + (\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{n})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}'}_{\pm}, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}'}_{\pm}) \pm 2\Im \mathfrak{m}(\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{\pm}, \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}'}_{\pm}) \right\} d\boldsymbol{m} dt,$$

where (\cdot, \cdot) denotes the Hermitian inner product, and

$$d\boldsymbol{m} = \frac{d\boldsymbol{m}}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \tag{7.9}$$

is the normalized Lebesgue measure on Π_n . Here we also introduced notations

$$\widehat{\psi}(\boldsymbol{m},t) = \int_{\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}}} \psi(\boldsymbol{z}',t) e^{i(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{z}')} d\boldsymbol{z}', \qquad \widehat{\psi'}(\boldsymbol{m},t) = \frac{\partial \widehat{\psi}(\boldsymbol{m},t)}{\partial t}, \qquad \boldsymbol{m} \in \Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}},$$

where $\boldsymbol{\psi}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{z}',t) = \boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{z}' \pm t\boldsymbol{n})$ for $\boldsymbol{z}' \in \Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}}$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Now, consider the surface term in (7.7). We obtain

where $\widehat{\psi}(0)$ is the shorthand for $\widehat{\psi}(\boldsymbol{m}, 0)$.

Next we split A(m, n) into symmetric and antisymmetric parts $A(m, n) = \Gamma(m, n) + \Lambda(m, n)$ and observe that

$$\int_0^\infty 2\Im \mathfrak{m}(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(t),\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}'}(t))dt = -\Im \mathfrak{m}(\boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0),\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0)),$$

where $\widehat{\psi}(t)$ is the shorthand for $\widehat{\psi}(\boldsymbol{m}, t)$. Thus,

$$\delta^2 I_{\rm loc}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) = \int_{\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}}} \left\{ \mathcal{I}_0(\boldsymbol{m}) + \int_0^\infty (\mathcal{I}^+(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_+(t)) + \mathcal{I}^-(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_-(t))) dt \right\} d\boldsymbol{m},$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}^{\pm}(\boldsymbol{f}(t)) = (\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m})\boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{f}(t)) + (\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{f}'(t), \boldsymbol{f}'(t)) \pm 2\Im\mathfrak{m}(\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{f}'(t))$$

and

$$\mathcal{I}_{0}(\boldsymbol{m}) = -\Im \mathfrak{m} \left\{ \llbracket (\boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n}) \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0), \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0)) \rrbracket - 2\widehat{\xi}(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{m}, \{ \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0) \}) \right\}.$$

The problem now is for each fixed $\boldsymbol{m} \perp \boldsymbol{n}$ to minimize

$$\mathcal{J}(\boldsymbol{\psi}) = \mathcal{I}_0(\boldsymbol{m}) + \int_0^\infty \left(\mathcal{I}^+(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_+(t)) + \mathcal{I}^-(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_-(t)) \right) dt,$$

subject to the constraint

$$\llbracket \widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0) \rrbracket = -\widehat{\boldsymbol{\xi}} \boldsymbol{a} \tag{7.10}$$

which is due to (7.8).

7.3 Auxiliary variational problem

The strategy is to solve first the auxiliary classical variational problem

$$\mathcal{I}^{\pm}_{*}(\boldsymbol{f}_{0}) = \min_{\boldsymbol{f}(0)=\boldsymbol{f}_{0}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \mathcal{I}^{\pm}(\boldsymbol{f}(t)) dt.$$
(7.11)

The minimum $\mathcal{I}^{\pm}_{*}(\boldsymbol{f}_{0})$ is going to be quadratic in \boldsymbol{f}_{0} . Then the non-negativity of $\delta^{2}I_{\text{loc}}(\boldsymbol{\psi})$ is going to be equivalent to the non-negativity of the quadratic form

$$q(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{-}(0),\widehat{\boldsymbol{\xi}}) = \mathcal{I}_{*}^{+}(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{+}(0)) + \mathcal{I}_{*}^{-}(\widehat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{-}(0)) + \mathcal{I}_{0}(\boldsymbol{m}), \qquad (7.12)$$

where $\widehat{\psi}_{+}(0)$ is eliminated from (7.12) via (7.10).

The Euler-Lagrange system for (7.11) is

$$\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m})\boldsymbol{f}(t) - \boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{f}''(t) \pm 2i\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{f}'(t) = 0.$$
(7.13)

We assume that the acoustic tensors $A_{\pm}(n)$ are strictly positive definite for all |n| = 1. Therefore, the second order system (7.13) can be rewritten as the first order system of twice the size:

$$f'(t) = h(t), \quad h'(t) = Mf(t) + iNh(t),$$

where the matrices M and N are given by

$$M_{\pm} = A_{\pm}(n)^{-1}A_{\pm}(m), \quad N_{\pm} = \pm 2A_{\pm}^{-1}(n)\Gamma_{\pm}(m,n).$$
 (7.14)

In other words, if $\boldsymbol{u}(t) = (\boldsymbol{f}(t), \boldsymbol{h}(t))$ then $\boldsymbol{u}'(t) = \mathbb{K}\boldsymbol{u}(t)$, where \mathbb{K} is given by

$$\mathbb{K} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{I} \\ \mathbf{M} & i\mathbf{N} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7.15)

The solutions of this linear system of ODEs with constant coefficients come from the spectral data for K. Suppose, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenvalue for K and $u^{\lambda} = (f^{\lambda}, h^{\lambda})$ is an eigenvector. Then

$$oldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(oldsymbol{m})oldsymbol{f}^{\lambda}\pm 2i\lambda\Gamma_{\pm}(oldsymbol{m},oldsymbol{n})oldsymbol{f}^{\lambda}=\lambda^{2}oldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(oldsymbol{n})oldsymbol{f}^{\lambda}.$$

Let us set $\lambda = i\tau$ and take a (Hermitian) inner product with f^{λ} . We obtain

$$(\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m})\boldsymbol{f}^{\lambda},\boldsymbol{f}^{\lambda}) \pm 2\tau(\boldsymbol{\Gamma}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{f}^{\lambda},\boldsymbol{f}^{\lambda}) + \tau^{2}(\boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{f}^{\lambda},\boldsymbol{f}^{\lambda}) = 0.$$

This equation has no real roots, because the matrices

$$A_{\pm}(m \pm \tau n) = A_{\pm}(m) \pm 2\tau \Gamma_{\pm}(m, n) + \tau^2 A_{\pm}(n)$$

are strictly positive definite by our assumption. Thus \mathbb{K} has no purely imaginary eigenvalues. In addition, since the matrices $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{m})$, $\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{n})$ and $\Gamma(\mathbf{m}, \mathbf{n})$ are real, if λ is an eigenvalue of \mathbb{K} , then so is $-\overline{\lambda}$. The fact that \mathbb{K} has no purely imaginary eigenvalues implies that λ and $-\overline{\lambda}$ are distinct and thus \mathbb{K} has the Jordan normal form given by

$$\mathbb{K} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{11} & \mathbf{C}_{12} \\ \mathbf{C}_{21} & \mathbf{C}_{22} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{J} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & -\overline{\mathbf{J}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C}_{11} & \mathbf{C}_{12} \\ \mathbf{C}_{21} & \mathbf{C}_{22} \end{bmatrix}^{-1},$$
(7.16)

where the $m \times m$ block **J** corresponds to the eigenvalues with negative real parts.

For a given fixed $f_0 \in \mathbb{C}^m$, we need to find $h_0 \in \mathbb{C}^m$ such that $u_0 = (f_0, h_0)$ belongs to the invariant subspace of \mathbb{K} corresponding to the Jordan block J, i.e. generating an exponentially decaying geodesic. It is not difficult to show that there is a unique choice of h_0 given by $h_0 = Qf_0$, where $Q = C_{21}C_{11}^{-1}$ and the matrices C_{ij} are defined via the Jordan decomposition (7.16). Thus, for each $f_0 \in \mathbb{C}^m$ there is a unique exponentially decaying geodesic u(t) such that $u(0) = (f_0, h_0)$ for some $h_0 \in \mathbb{C}^m$. It is easy to calculate that

$$\mathcal{I}^\pm_*(oldsymbol{f}_0) = -(oldsymbol{K}_\pm oldsymbol{f}_0, oldsymbol{f}_0),$$

where \boldsymbol{K} is defined by

$$K(m, n) = (A(n)C_{11}JC_{11}^{-1})^{H} = (A(n)Q)^{H},$$
(7.17)

where $\mathbf{X}^{H} = (\mathbf{X} + \mathbf{X}^{*})/2$ is the Hermitian symmetrization of \mathbf{X} (\mathbf{X}^{*} denotes the usual Hermitian adjoint).

There is a way to compute Q in (7.17) without having to compute the Jordan decomposition (7.16) of K. Let $p_{J}(\lambda)$ be the characteristic polynomial of J. Multiplying (7.16) by

$$\left[egin{array}{ccc} m{C}_{11} & m{C}_{12} \ m{C}_{21} & m{C}_{22} \end{array}
ight]$$

on the right and expanding, we obtain, after easy manipulations, that (see also [42])

$$\boldsymbol{M} + i\boldsymbol{N}\boldsymbol{Q} = \boldsymbol{Q}^2. \tag{7.18}$$

By the Cayley-Hamilton theorem $p_J(\mathbf{Q}) = \mathbf{0}$. The equation (7.18) can then be used to reduce this polynomial equation to the linear equation of the form $U\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{V}$, which is easily solvable for \mathbf{Q} . For example, If m = 2 and $p_J(\lambda) = \lambda^2 - a_1\lambda + a_2$ then

$$(a_1 \boldsymbol{I} - i\boldsymbol{N})\boldsymbol{Q} = \boldsymbol{M} + a_2 \boldsymbol{I}. \tag{7.19}$$

If m = 3 and $p_J(\lambda) = \lambda^3 - a_1\lambda^2 + a_2\lambda - a_3$, then, we get

$$(\boldsymbol{M} - \boldsymbol{N}^2 - ia_1\boldsymbol{N} + a_2\boldsymbol{I})\boldsymbol{Q} = a_1\boldsymbol{M} + a_3\boldsymbol{I} - i\boldsymbol{N}\boldsymbol{M}.$$
(7.20)

Observe that the characteristic polynomial $P_{\mathbb{K}}(\lambda)$ of \mathbb{K} has the structure

$$P_{\mathbb{K}}(\lambda) = (-1)^m p_J(\lambda) \overline{p_J(-\overline{\lambda})}.$$

If $\lambda = i\tau, \, \tau \in \mathbb{R}$ then

$$P_{\mathbb{K}_{\pm}}(i\tau) = (-1)^m \frac{\det \boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m} \mp \tau \boldsymbol{n})}{\det \boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{n})}$$

Thus, the characteristic polynomial $p_{J}(\lambda)$ of **J** can be computed from the equation

$$|p_{\boldsymbol{J}_{\pm}}(i au)|^2 = rac{\det \boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m} \mp au \boldsymbol{n})}{\det \boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{n})}, \quad au \in \mathbb{R}.$$

To do this, one needs to compute the roots of

$$\det \boldsymbol{A}_{\pm}(\boldsymbol{m} \mp \tau \boldsymbol{n}) = 0, \qquad (7.21)$$

which come as a set of m complex-conjugate pairs. Then

$$p_{\mathbf{J}}(\lambda) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\lambda - i\tau_j),$$

where τ_1, \ldots, τ_m are the roots of (7.21) with positive imaginary parts.

7.4 Algebraic form

We can now return to (7.12) and obtain

$$q(\{\!\!\{\widehat{\psi}(0)\}\!\!\}, \widehat{\xi}) = -\left(\begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{A}(m, n) & p(m, n) \\ \hline p(m, n) & \alpha(m, n) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 2\{\!\!\{\widehat{\psi}(0)\}\!\!\} \\ \hline \widehat{\xi} \end{bmatrix} \right), \begin{bmatrix} 2\{\!\!\{\widehat{\psi}(0)\}\!\!\} \\ \hline \widehat{\xi} \end{bmatrix} \right),$$

where $A(\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n})$, $\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n})$ and $\alpha(\boldsymbol{m}, \boldsymbol{n})$ are given by

$$\mathsf{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) = -\frac{i}{2} \llbracket \boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) \rrbracket + \{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\}\!\!\},$$
(7.22)

$$\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) = -i[\boldsymbol{P}]\boldsymbol{m} + \left(-i\{\boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\} + \frac{1}{2}[\boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})]\right)[\boldsymbol{F}]\boldsymbol{n}$$
(7.23)

and

$$\alpha(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) = (\{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\}\!\!\}[\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n},[\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}). \tag{7.24}$$

Using our analysis it is now straightforward to construct the perturbation $(\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}), \boldsymbol{\xi}(\boldsymbol{z}'))$ corresponding to any given vector $(\llbracket \hat{\boldsymbol{\psi}}(0) \rrbracket, \hat{\boldsymbol{\xi}})$. Hence, the condition

$$\mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) = -\begin{bmatrix} \mathsf{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) & \boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) \\ \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})} & \alpha(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$$
(7.25)

implies the non-negativity of $\delta^2 I_{\text{loc}}$.

Our analysis involves localized variations of Euler-Lagrange type leading to the Legendre-Hadamard condition in the absence of discontinuities. For this reason we call the matrix \mathbb{A} the *phase boundary acoustic tensor*. Since the phase boundary acoustic tensor $\mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})$ is given in block form, it makes sense to reformulate the condition of non-negative definiteness of $\mathbb{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})$ in terms of its blocks. A simple linear algebra gives the following result.

THEOREM 7.1. Suppose that the uniform Legendre-Hadamard condition $A_{\pm}(n) > 0$ is satisfied for all n. Then the second variation (7.7) is non-negative if and only if the matrix $\mathbb{A}(m, n)$ is positive semi-definite. The matrix $\mathbb{A}(m, n)$ is positive semi-definite if and only if $-\mathbb{A}(m, n)$ is a positive semi-definite matrix, p(m, n) belongs to the range of $\mathbb{A}(m, n)$ and

$$\min_{\boldsymbol{m}\in\Pi_{\boldsymbol{n}},|\boldsymbol{m}|=1}\left\{(\mathsf{A}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}),\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}))-\alpha(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})\right\}\geq0,\tag{7.26}$$

where the inverse A^{-1} is taken on the range of A.

We remark that the condition

$$\mathsf{A}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) \le 0, \qquad \boldsymbol{m} \perp \boldsymbol{n} \tag{7.27}$$

is equivalent to the Simpson-Spector condition [53], corresponding to the case $\theta = 0$. In other words (7.27) is equivalent to the non-negativity of the classical outer second variation

 $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \mathbf{0})$. In that respect the condition (7.27) is a necessary condition for the classical weak local minimum, while condition (6.6) is necessary for the classical strong local minimum. Observe that the condition (7.27) is a constraint on the elastic moduli and the interface normal \boldsymbol{n} . It does not place any constraints on the values of deformation gradient \boldsymbol{F}_{\pm} in contrast to the inequality (7.26).

Remark 7.2. In the special case when d = 2 there is no minimum to compute in (7.26) and we can write explicitly

$$(\mathsf{A}^{-1}(\boldsymbol{n}^{\perp},\boldsymbol{n})\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{n}^{\perp},\boldsymbol{n}),\boldsymbol{p}(\boldsymbol{n}^{\perp},\boldsymbol{n})) \geq \alpha(\boldsymbol{n}^{\perp},\boldsymbol{n}),$$
(7.28)

where $\mathbf{n}^{\perp} = (-n_2, n_1).$

Remark 7.3. What we have done for jump discontinuities could also apply to the traction part of the outer boundary of $\partial\Omega$. The respective calculations are a lot simpler, since inner variations are no longer allowed (unless we change the notion of a local minimum and allow variable reference domain.) The corresponding condition says that the $m \times m$ complex Hermitian matrices

$$\mathsf{A}^{b}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) = -i\boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n}) - \boldsymbol{K}(\boldsymbol{m},\boldsymbol{n})$$
(7.29)

must be positive semi-definite for all $m \perp n$, where n is now the outer unit normal to $\partial \Omega$.

We will call the matrix $A^b(\boldsymbol{\xi}, \boldsymbol{n})$ the boundary acoustic tensor. The Legendre-Hadamard condition for traction free boundaries have been discussed in detail in [42, 51, 52], where the authors also address the special case of quadratic energy and derived conditions that ensure non-negativity in the case when the acoustic tensor is not strictly positive definite.

7.5 Example

In this example we present a configuration satisfying (4.14) and (4.15), with positive definite classical second variation, whose instability is detected by the local condition (7.28).

Consider the scalar 2D variational problem, corresponding to anti-plane shear in elasticity with d = 2 and m = 1. The elastic energy has the form $L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}) = W(\boldsymbol{F})$, where

$$W(\mathbf{F}) = \min\left\{\frac{1}{2}\mu_{+}|\mathbf{F}|^{2} + w_{+}, \frac{1}{2}\mu_{-}|\mathbf{F}|^{2} + w_{-}\right\},$$
(7.30)

where $\mathbf{F} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\mu_{\pm} > 0$ are the shear moduli of the phases. More specifically, if the transformation strains \mathbf{F}°_{\pm} are present, they can be again eliminated by a simple affine transformation. If

$$\widehat{W}(\mathbf{F}) = \min\left\{\frac{1}{2}\mu_{+}|\mathbf{F} - \mathbf{F}_{+}^{\circ}|^{2} + \widehat{w}_{+}, \frac{1}{2}\mu_{-}|\mathbf{F} - \mathbf{F}_{-}^{\circ}|^{2} + \widehat{w}_{-}\right\},\$$

then

$$\widehat{W}(\boldsymbol{F}) = W(\boldsymbol{F} - \overline{\boldsymbol{F}}) + (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ}, \boldsymbol{F}) - \frac{1}{2}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ}, \overline{\boldsymbol{F}}),$$



Figure 4: The heterogeneous annulus.

where

$$\overline{\boldsymbol{F}} = \frac{\llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{F}^{\circ} \rrbracket}{\llbracket \mu \rrbracket}, \qquad \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ} = \{ \mu \} \overline{\boldsymbol{F}} - \{ \mu \boldsymbol{F}^{\circ} \}, \qquad w_{\pm} = \widehat{w}_{\pm} - \frac{1}{2} (\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{\circ}, \boldsymbol{F}_{\pm}^{\circ})$$

We begin by computing the 2×2 matrix $\mathbb{A}(\mathbf{n}^{\perp}, \mathbf{n})$ for the energy (7.30). We have

$$M = 1,$$
 $N = 0,$ $Q = -\sqrt{M} = -1.$

Therefore, $K(\mathbf{n}^{\perp}, \mathbf{n}) = -\mu$ and $\Lambda(\mathbf{n}^{\perp}, \mathbf{n}) = 0$. Hence, $\mathsf{A}(\mathbf{n}^{\perp}, \mathbf{n}) = -\{\mu\} < 0$. This shows that the condition (7.27) is satisfied regardless the orientation of the surface of discontinuity. We also have

$$p(\boldsymbol{n}^{\perp}, \boldsymbol{n}) = -i(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n}^{\perp}) + \frac{1}{2}\llbracket \mu \rrbracket(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n}).$$

and

$$\alpha(\boldsymbol{n}^{\perp},\boldsymbol{n}) = -\{\!\!\{\mu\}\}([\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!],\boldsymbol{n})^2\}$$

The inequality (7.28) is then equivalent to

$$\mu_{+}\mu_{-}(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n})^{2} \ge (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n}^{\perp})^{2}.$$
(7.31)

Consider a circular annulus shown in Figure 4 and assume that the loading is compatible with the following equilibrium configuration

$$u(\boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{cases} (\boldsymbol{a}_{-}, \boldsymbol{x}) + \frac{(\boldsymbol{b}_{-}, \boldsymbol{x})}{r^{2}}, & \text{if } R \leq |\boldsymbol{x}| \leq r_{*} \\ \\ (\boldsymbol{a}_{+}, \boldsymbol{x}) + \frac{(\boldsymbol{b}_{+}, \boldsymbol{x})}{r^{2}}, & \text{if } r_{*} \leq |\boldsymbol{x}| \leq 1 \end{cases}$$
(7.32)

The continuity of displacements and tractions can be written as

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket + \frac{\llbracket \boldsymbol{b} \rrbracket}{r_*^2} = \boldsymbol{0}, \qquad \llbracket \boldsymbol{\mu} \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket = \frac{\llbracket \boldsymbol{\mu} \boldsymbol{b} \rrbracket}{r_*^2}, \tag{7.33}$$

respectively. The Maxwell condition can be written as

$$p^* = \frac{1}{2}(\llbracket \mu \pmb{F} \rrbracket, \{\!\!\{ \pmb{F} \}\!\!\}) - \frac{1}{2}(\llbracket \pmb{F} \rrbracket, \{\!\!\{ \mu \pmb{F} \}\!\!\}) + \llbracket w \rrbracket$$

Knowing that the deformation gradient is equal to

$$oldsymbol{F} = oldsymbol{a} + (oldsymbol{I} - 2\widehat{oldsymbol{x}} \otimes \widehat{oldsymbol{x}}) rac{oldsymbol{b}}{r^2}.$$

We get from (7.33)

$$\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket = 2(\llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}) \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}, \qquad \llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket = 2(\boldsymbol{I} - \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}} \otimes \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}) \llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket.$$

Applying the product rule (5.5)

$$\llbracket \mu b \rrbracket = \llbracket \mu \rrbracket \{ b \} + \{ \mu \} \llbracket b \rrbracket, \qquad \llbracket b \rrbracket = \llbracket \mu^{-1} \mu b \rrbracket = \llbracket \mu^{-1} \rrbracket \{ \mu b \} + \{ \mu^{-1} \} \llbracket \mu b \rrbracket$$

and using (7.33) we can write

$$\frac{\{b\}}{r_*^2} = \frac{[\![\mu a]\!] + \{\mu\}[\![a]\!]}{[\![\mu]\!]}, \qquad \frac{\{\mu b\}}{r_*^2} = -\frac{[\![a]\!] + \{\mu^{-1}\}[\![\mu a]\!]}{[\![\mu^{-1}]\!]}$$

Then, applying the product rule (5.5) again, we get

$$\{F\} = \frac{2\llbracket\mu a\rrbracket}{\llbracket\mu\rrbracket} - \frac{2}{\llbracket\mu\rrbracket} (\llbracket\mu a\rrbracket + \{\mu\}\llbracket a\rrbracket, \widehat{x})\widehat{x},$$
$$\{\mu F\} = \frac{2\llbracket a\rrbracket}{\llbracket\mu^{-1}\rrbracket} - \frac{2}{\llbracket\mu^{-1}\rrbracket} (I - \widehat{x} \otimes \widehat{x}) (\llbracket a\rrbracket + \{\mu^{-1}\}\llbracket\mu a\rrbracket)$$

Hence,

$$p^* = \frac{2}{\llbracket \mu \rrbracket} ((\boldsymbol{I} - \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}} \otimes \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}) \llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket) - \frac{2}{\llbracket \mu^{-1} \rrbracket} (\llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}})^2 + \llbracket w \rrbracket.$$

Let

$$oldsymbol{B} = rac{\llbracket \mu oldsymbol{a}
rbracket \otimes \llbracket \mu oldsymbol{a}
rbracket}{\llbracket \mu
rbracket} + rac{\llbracket oldsymbol{a}
rbracket \otimes \llbracket oldsymbol{a}
rbracket}{\llbracket \mu^{-1}
rbracket}.$$

Then $p^* = 0$ is equivalent to $(B\hat{x}, \hat{x}) = \beta$ for all \hat{x} , where

$$\beta = \frac{|\llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket|^2}{\llbracket \mu \rrbracket} + \frac{1}{2} \llbracket w \rrbracket.$$

We conclude that $\boldsymbol{B} = \beta \boldsymbol{I}$. Observe also that for any vector $\boldsymbol{v} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ that is perpendicular to $[\![\boldsymbol{a}]\!]$ we get $(\boldsymbol{B}\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{v}) \geq 0$, assuming $\mu_+ > \mu_-$. Similarly for any vector $\boldsymbol{w} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ that is perpendicular to $[\![\mu \boldsymbol{a}]\!]$ we get $(\boldsymbol{B}\boldsymbol{w}, \boldsymbol{w}) \leq 0$. Hence det $\boldsymbol{B} \leq 0$. But \boldsymbol{B} is a multiple of the identity. Hence, we conclude that $\boldsymbol{B} = \boldsymbol{0}$ and $\beta = 0$. That means, that

$$\llbracket \mu \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket = \nu \llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \quad \nu^2 = \mu_+ \mu_-, \qquad |\llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \llbracket \mu^{-1} \rrbracket \llbracket w \rrbracket.$$
 (7.34)

We have in view of (7.33)

$$(\llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n}) = 2(\llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}), \qquad (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{n}^{\perp}) = 2(\llbracket \boldsymbol{\mu} \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\perp}) = 2\nu(\llbracket \boldsymbol{a} \rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\perp}).$$

If (7.31) holds then for any unit vector \hat{x} we must have

$$4\mu_+\mu_-(\llbracket \boldsymbol{a}\rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}})^2 \ge 4\mu_+\mu_-(\llbracket \boldsymbol{a}\rrbracket, \widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}^\perp)^2.$$

According to (7.34), $\llbracket a \rrbracket \neq 0$. Then taking $\hat{x} = \llbracket a \rrbracket^{\perp} / |\llbracket a \rrbracket|$, we obtain $|\llbracket a \rrbracket|^2 = 0$ contradicting (7.34). We can now conclude that any solution u(x) in the annulus of the form (7.32) is unstable.

We remark that once the direction of $\llbracket a \rrbracket$ is chosen arbitrarily, the solution (7.32) is determined uniquely by the jump conditions (7.33) and (7.34). Any such solution has positive classical second variation:

$$\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\phi, \mathbf{0}) = \int_{\Omega} \mu(\boldsymbol{x}) |\nabla \phi|^2 d\boldsymbol{x} > 0, \qquad \mu(\boldsymbol{x}) = \begin{cases} \mu_+, & R \le |\boldsymbol{x}| \le r_* \\ \mu_-, & r_* \le |\boldsymbol{x}| \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Remark 7.4. The instability of solutions (7.32) could also be easily detected by the roughening stability condition derived in [26]. For this example it reads

 $4\nu([\![\boldsymbol{a}]\!],\widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\perp})([\![\boldsymbol{a}]\!],\widehat{\boldsymbol{x}})\widehat{\boldsymbol{x}}^{\perp}=\boldsymbol{0}$

for any unit vector $\hat{\boldsymbol{x}}$. In other words, at least one component of $[\![\boldsymbol{a}]\!]$ must be zero in any orthonormal basis. This means that $[\![\boldsymbol{a}]\!] = \boldsymbol{0}$, contradicting (7.34).

Acknowledgments. This material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. 0707582. LT was also supported by the EU contract MRTN-CT-2004-505226. VK was partially supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research grant 10-01-00670-a.

A Grinfeld's expression for second variation

In [28, 29] Grinfeld considered the problem of stability of phase boundaries and computed the second variation of the energy for the case when the outer variation in the bulk regions is complemented by the simultaneous displacement of the phase boundary in Lagrangian coordinates. Although he did not use the concept of inner variations we can show that his result agrees with our formula (5.16), when $L(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{F}) = W(\boldsymbol{F})$.

Written in our notations, Grinfeld's second variation formula has the form $\delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\phi}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \delta^2 I_{\Omega}(\boldsymbol{\psi}, \mathbf{0}) - Z$, where $\boldsymbol{\psi}$ is given by (2.11) and

$$Z = \int_{\Sigma} \{\xi(\delta_{jk} - n_j n_k) [\![P_{ij}\psi_{i,k} - P_{ij,k}\psi_i]\!] + \xi^2(\delta_{jk} - n_j n_k) [\![P_{ij}F_{ik,r}]\!]n_r - [\![P_{ij}\psi_i]\!](\nabla_{\Sigma}\xi)_j\} dS.$$

Here we show that $Z = \mathfrak{S}$. Expanding and using the chain rule $P_{ij}F_{ij,r} = W_{,r}$, we get

$$Z = \int_{\Sigma} \{\xi \llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi}) \rrbracket - \xi \left(\llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket, \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n} \right) + \xi \llbracket \left(\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \boldsymbol{n}, \boldsymbol{\psi} \right) \rrbracket + \xi^2 \llbracket \frac{\partial W}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket \\ - \xi^2 \left(\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n} \right) - \left(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P}^T \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \xi \right) \} dS(\boldsymbol{x}).$$

Observe that

$$\llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi})
rbracket - \left(\llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{\psi}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}
rbracket, \boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}
ight) = \llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\psi})
rbracket.$$

Using (5.22) for the third term in Z and integration by parts formula (5.21) in the last term in Z, we obtain

$$Z = \int_{\Sigma} \left\{ 2\xi \llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\psi}) \rrbracket + \xi^2 \llbracket \frac{\partial W}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket - \xi^2 \left(\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket \boldsymbol{n} \right) - \xi \left(\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket \right) \nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \right\} dS(\boldsymbol{x}).$$

Now, let us apply the formula

$$\llbracket (\boldsymbol{P}, \nabla_{\Sigma} \boldsymbol{\psi}) \rrbracket = (\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) + (\{ \boldsymbol{P} \}, \nabla_{\Sigma} \llbracket \boldsymbol{\psi} \rrbracket)$$
(A.1)

and (5.9) to the first and the last terms of Z, respectively, to get

Let us apply (5.19) to the second term

$$Z' = -2 \int_{\Sigma} \xi(\{\boldsymbol{P}\}, \nabla_{\Sigma}(\xi[\boldsymbol{F}]\boldsymbol{n})) dS(\boldsymbol{x})$$

of Z. We get

$$Z' = \int_{\Sigma} \left\{ -(\{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{P}\}\!\} \nabla_{\Sigma}(\xi^2), [\!\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}) - 2\xi^2 \left(\{\!\!\{\boldsymbol{P}\}\!\}, [\!\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!\!]\right) + 2\xi^2 \left(\!\![\boldsymbol{P}\boldsymbol{n}, [\!\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!]\boldsymbol{n}\right) \right\} dS(\boldsymbol{x}).$$

Integrating the first term by parts and using (5.19) and (5.22) again, we obtain

$$Z' = \int_{\Sigma} \left\{ \xi^2 \left(\{ \boldsymbol{P} \}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!] (\boldsymbol{I} - \boldsymbol{n} \otimes \boldsymbol{n}) \right) - \xi^2 \left(\{ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \} \boldsymbol{n}, [\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!] \boldsymbol{n} \right) - \xi^2 (\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, [\![\boldsymbol{F}]\!] \boldsymbol{n}) \nabla_{\Sigma} \cdot \boldsymbol{n} \right. \\ \left. - 2\xi^2 \left(\{ \boldsymbol{P} \}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!] \right) + 2\xi^2 \left(\boldsymbol{P} \boldsymbol{n}, [\![\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}}]\!] \boldsymbol{n} \right) \right\} dS(\boldsymbol{x}).$$

Now we substitute this expression for Z' back into the formula for Z and use (5.6). After all the cancellations we obtain

$$Z = \int_{\Sigma} \left\{ 2\xi(\llbracket \boldsymbol{P} \rrbracket, \nabla_{\Sigma} \{ \boldsymbol{\psi} \}) + \xi^2 \llbracket \frac{\partial W}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket - \xi^2 \left(\{ \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{P}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \}, \llbracket \boldsymbol{F} \rrbracket \right) - \xi^2 \left(\{ \boldsymbol{P} \}, \llbracket \frac{\partial \boldsymbol{F}}{\partial \boldsymbol{n}} \rrbracket \right) \right\} dS(\boldsymbol{x}),$$

which agrees with the surface integral term in (5.16) in view of (5.17).

References

- S. Agmon. The coerciveness problem for integro-differential forms. J. Analyse Math., 6:183–223, 1958.
- [2] J. M. Ball. Convexity conditions and existence theorems in nonlinear elasticity. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 63(4):337–403, 1976/77.
- [3] S. Benzoni-Gavage. Stability of subsonic planar phase boundaries in a van der Waals fluid. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 150(1):23–55, 1999.
- [4] V. L. Berdichevsky. Variational principles of continuum mechanics. I Fundamentals. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [5] V. L. Berdichevsky. Variational principles of continuum mechanics. II Applications. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [6] K. Bhattacharya. *Microstructure of martensite*. Oxford Series on Materials Modelling. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2003.
- [7] M. A. Biot. Mechanics of incremental deformations. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York, 1965.
- [8] B. Budiansky and J. Rice. Conservation laws and energy-release rates. J. appl. Mech, 40(1), 1973.
- [9] B. Dacorogna. Direct methods in the calculus of variations. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [10] D. G. de Figueiredo. The coerciveness problem for forms over vector valued functions. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 16:63–94, 1963.
- [11] G. Erdmann. Über die unstetige Lösungen in der Variationsrechnung. J. Reine Angew. Math., 82:21–30, 1877.
- [12] J. D. Eshelby. The determination of the elastic field of an ellipsoidal inclusion, and related problems. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A, Mathematical and Physical Sciences, 241:376–396, 1957.
- [13] J. D. Eshelby. Energy relations and energy momentum tensor in continuum mechanics. In M. Kanninen, W. Adler, A. Rosenfeld, and R. Jaffee, editors, *Inelastic behavior of solids*, pages 77–114. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1970.
- [14] L. C. Evans. Quasiconvexity and partial regularity in the calculus of variations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 95(3):227–252, 1986.

- [15] G. Francfort and J. Sivaloganathan. On conservation laws and necessary conditions in the calculus of variations. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 132(6):1361–1371, 2002.
- [16] A. B. Freidin. On new phase inclusions in elastic solids. Z. Angew. Math. Mech., 87(2):102–116, 2007.
- [17] H. Freistühler and R. G. Plaza. Normal modes and nonlinear stability behaviour of dynamic phase boundaries in elastic materials. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 186(1):1–24, 2007.
- [18] I. M. Gelfand and S. V. Fomin. *Calculus of variations*. Prentice-Hall, 1963.
- [19] M. Giaquinta and S. Hildebrandt. Calculus of variations. I The Lagrangian formalism, volume 310 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996.
- [20] Y. Grabovsky. Bounds and extremal microstructures for two-component composites: A unified treatment based on the translation method. Proc. Roy. Soc. London, Series A., 452(1947):945–952, 1996.
- [21] Y. Grabovsky and R. V. Kohn. Microstructures minimizing the energy of a two phase elastic composite in two space dimensions. I: the confocal ellipse construction. J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 43(6):933–947, 1995.
- [22] Y. Grabovsky and R. V. Kohn. Microstructures minimizing the energy of a two phase elastic composite in two space dimensions. II: the Vigdergauz microstructure. J. Mech. Phys. Solids, 43(6):949–972, 1995.
- [23] Y. Grabovsky, V. Kucher, and L. Truskinovsky. Probing the limits of rank-one convexity. in preparation, 2011.
- [24] Y. Grabovsky and T. Mengesha. Direct approach to the problem of strong local minima in calculus of variations. *Calc. Var. and PDE*, 29:59–83, 2007.
- [25] Y. Grabovsky and T. Mengesha. Sufficient conditions for strong local minima: the case of C¹ extremals. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 361(3):1495–1541, 2009.
- [26] Y. Grabovsky and L. Truskinovsky. Roughening instability of broken extremals. Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal., in press, 2011.
- [27] M. A. Grinfeld. On the thermodynamic stability of material. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 253(6):1349–1353, 1980.
- [28] M. A. Grinfeld. Stability of heterogeneous equilibrium in systems containing solid elastic phases. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 265(4):836–840, 1982.

- [29] M. A. Grinfeld. Metody mekhaniki sploshnykh sred v teorii fazovykh prevrashchenii.
 "Nauka", Moscow, 1990. English translation in [30].
- [30] M. A. Grinfeld. Thermodynamic methods in the theory of heterogeneous systems. Longman, New York, 1991.
- [31] M. E. Gurtin. Configurational forces as basic concepts of continuum physics, volume 137 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000.
- [32] R. D. James. Finite deformation by mechanical twinning. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 77(2):143–176, 1981.
- [33] A. G. Khachaturyan. Theory of structural transformation in solids. Wiley, New York, 1983.
- [34] R. V. Kohn and G. Strang. Optimal design and relaxation of variational problems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 39:113–137, 139–182 and 353–377, 1986.
- [35] H.-O. Kreiss. Initial boundary value problems for hyperbolic systems. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 23:277–298, 1970.
- [36] J. Kristensen and A. Taheri. Partial regularity of strong local minimizers in the multidimensional calculus of variations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 170(1):63–89, 2003.
- [37] V. A. Kucher and V. G. Osmolovskii. Computation of the second variation of the energy functional of a two-phase medium. J. Math. Sci. (New York), 106(3):2929–2951, 2001. Function theory and phase transitions.
- [38] I. M. Lifshits and L. S. Gulida. On nucleation under local melting. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 87(4):523–526, 1952. in Russian, English version available.
- [39] I. M. Lifshits and L. S. Gulida. On the theory of local melting. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 87(3):377–380, 1952. in Russian, English version available.
- [40] Ya. B. Lopatinski. On a method of reducing boundary problems for a system of differential equations of elliptic type to regular integral equations. Ukrain. Mat. Zh., 5:123–151, 1953. In Russian.
- [41] G. A. Maugin. Material inhomogeneities in elasticity. Chapman and Hall, Ltd., London, 1993.
- [42] A. Mielke and P. Sprenger. Quasiconvexity at the boundary and a simple variational formulation of Agmon's condition. J. Elasticity, 51(1):23–41, 1998.
- [43] T. Mura. *Micromechanics of defects in solids*. Springer, 1987.

- [44] J. Nečas. Example of an irregular solution to a nonlinear elliptic system with analytic coefficients and conditions for regularity. In *Theory of nonlinear operators (Proc. Fourth Internat. Summer School, Acad. Sci., Berlin, 1975)*, pages 197–206. Abh. Akad. Wiss. DDR Abt. Math.–Natur.–Tech., Jahrgang 1977, 1. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1977.
- [45] E. Noether. Invariante variationsprobleme. Nachr. v. d. Ges. d. Wiss. zu Göttingen, pages 235–257, 1918. English translation in "Transport Theory and Statistical Mechanics" 1(3):183-207, 1971.
- [46] P. J. Olver. Applications of Lie groups to differential equations, volume 107 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1986.
- [47] M. Pitteri and G. Zanzotto. Continuum models for phase transitions and twinning in crystals, volume 19 of Applied Mathematics. Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, 2003.
- [48] P.-Y. F. Robin. Thermodynamic equilibrium across a coherent interface in a stressed crystal. American Mineralogist, 59(11-12):1286–1298, 1974.
- [49] Z. Ya. Shapiro. On general boundary value problems of elliptic type. Izv. Akad. Nauk Ser. Mar., 17:539–562, 1953. In Russian.
- [50] M. Silhavý. The mechanics and thermodynamics of continuous media. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [51] H. C. Simpson and S. J. Spector. On the positivity of the second variation in finite elasticity. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 98(1):1–30, 1987.
- [52] H. C. Simpson and S. J. Spector. Necessary conditions at the boundary for minimizers in finite elasticity. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 107(2):105–125, 1989.
- [53] H. C. Simpson and S. J. Spector. Some necessary conditions at an internal boundary for minimizers in finite elasticity. J. Elasticity, 26(3):203–222, 1991.
- [54] V. Šverák and X. Yan. A singular minimizer of a smooth strongly convex functional in three dimensions. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 10(3):213–221, 2000.
- [55] T. Y. Thomas. Plastic flow and fracture in solids. Mathematics in Science and Engineering, Vol. 2. Academic Press, New York, 1961.
- [56] S. B. Vigdergauz. Effective elastic parameters of a plate with a regular system of equalstrength holes. MTT, 21(2):165–169, 1986.
- [57] S. B. Vigdergauz. Piecewise-homogeneous plates of extremal stiffness. Prikladnaia Matematika i Mekhanika (PMM), 53(1):76–80, 1989.

- [58] S. B. Vigdergauz. Two-dimensional grained composites of extreme rigidity. ASME J. Appl. Mech., 61(2):390–394, 1994.
- [59] V. Šverák and X. Yan. Non-Lipschitz minimizers of smooth uniformly convex functionals. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 99(24):15269–15276 (electronic), 2002.
- [60] L. C. Young. Lectures on the calculus of variations and optimal control theory. W. B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, 1969. Foreword by Wendell H. Fleming.